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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

______________________________ x
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, - New York, N.Y.
V. 02 CR 395 (JGK)
LYNNE STEWART,
Defendant. ,
______________________________ x . »

July ‘15, 2010
2:35 p.m.

Before:
HON. JOHN G. KOELTL,

District Judge

APPEARANCES

PREET BHARARA
- United States Attorney for the:
Southern District of New York
BY: ANDREW DEMBER
MICHAEL MAIMIN .
Assistant United States Attorneys

JILL R. SHELLOW
SARAH KUNSTLER
REBECCA HEINEGG
Attorneys for Defendant
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(In open cOurt)

THE DEPUTY CLERK: United Statés of America versus
Lynne Stewart. Will all parties please state who>they are for
the resord.

MR. DEMBER:. For the go&ernment, your Honor, Andrew
Dember, along with Assistant United States Attorney_Michael'
Maimin, as well as paralegal specialist Lillie Grant. Good
afternoon.

MR. MAIMIN: Good afternoon, your Honor.

MS. SHELLOW:. Good afternoon, your Hoﬁor. Jill

Shellow for defendant Lynne Stewart. With me is Sarah Kunstler

‘and Rebecca Heinegg. Ms. Heinegg was admitted to the bar of

this Court last week.
THE CQURT: All right. I note that the defendant is
present.

- I have received the presentence report prepared
August-22, 2005, as amended June 30, 2010, together with the
sentencing recommendatidh and the addendum dated June 30, 2010.
I have received the defendant's submissions dated June il,
2010, June 28, 2010, July 9, 2010, duly 12, 2010, July 13, 2010
and July 14, 2010. I've received the governmenﬁ's submissions
datsd June 11, 2010; June 25, 2010, and July 14, 2010.

| The partiesishould assure that‘their filings are in
the Court file so that they can be publicly available, unless
they're marked as filed under seal. However, in filing the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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documents, the parties should assure that they comply with

‘Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 49.1 and redact any personal

idehtifying information, in particular the home addresses of
any persons.

I'11 rely on the parties to make those filings. I
believe that many of theﬁ have already been made on ECF. And
I'll simply place my copies in the record under seal, along

with the presentence report, the recommendation and the

‘addendum.

Is that satisfactory with everybne?

MR. DEMBER: Yes, yéur Honor .

MS. SHELLOW: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Before I call on counsel and the
defendant, let me deal with the defense objections to the
presentence report as set out in the defense letﬁer dated
July 13, 2010.

One, on page two of the presentence report, the

~defense requests that the Court provide a more complete’

description of the defendant's remand and thé Court will do
that. The Court will delete the sentence that begins, "on

November 19, 2009," and the Court will replace itvwith the

«following language: "On November 17, 2009, the Court of

Appeals for the Second Circuit directed that the district court
order Ms. Stewart, who had been granﬁed bail pending appeal, to
surrender forthwith to begin serving her term of incarceration.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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The district court thereafter ordered Ms. Stewart to surrender
to the marshal on November 19, 2010, and Ms. Stewart
surreﬁdered. She remains in custody."

Two, the defense notes that there are several points
in the presentence repart where the_report is marked as
"stricken by the Court." There is no reason that the

presentence report should indicate that portions have been

ordered stricken by the Court. 1It's sufficient that the

language simply doesn't appear. Therefore, those references
should be deleted in paragraphs 20, 26; page 33, third
paragraph, also including the word "was" at page §3, fifth
paragraph.

Three, paragraph 75, the word ultimately should be
éhanged to initially. |

Four, page 33, second paragraph, I will strike the
sentence that states "Stewart declined to discuss the incident
offense at the time of the presentence interview and we cannot
surmise her motivation for committing this offense." The
sentence is iﬁconsistent with paragraph 41, and I accept the
representation that defense counsel offered the sentencing
memoranda to the probation department.

Number five, page 33, paragraph four, I'll replace
"age 65" with "age 70." I will strike the sentence that begins
"Stewart is now being treated;"-and replace‘it with
"Ms. Stewart completed radiation therapy for breast cancer and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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she continues to receive chemotherapy in the form of Arimidex,
d medication delivered orally."

Any bbjections or comments on these changes?

MR. DEMBER: Your Honor, we have no dbjection to the
changes. The only thing I would suggest, and it's really not
very important, yoﬁr Honor, is on page 15, paragraph 75,
paragraph 75 really serves no purpose in the report itself.

THE COURT: Hold on one second.

MR. DEMBER:- Sure.

TﬁE COURT: T mean, this is not an objection or
commentvon the changes I made?

MR. DEMBER: Your Honor, you did make a change in that
parégraph from the word -- removed the word ultimately and
substituted the wdrd initially.

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. DEMBER: All I'm saying, your Honor, is apparently

‘there was a motion to dismiss that case originally, which was

granted. The case was reinstated after I believe, you know, an
appellate court ruled the original motion to be wrongly
decided, and then the defendant was -- pled guilty and the
dispoéition shows. |

I see no purpose to it. I don't object to it being

'there, but it really serves no purpose for the report itself.

And, frankly, we prefer that it be stricken because it serves

no purpose.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
' (212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: Defense?

MS. SHELLOW: Your Honor, we think it's therevforb
completeness. It's not particularly ?elevant, but on the other
handL it would otherwise require a‘renumbering of the entire
document. |

| THE COURT: So you want it in with initially?

MS. SHELLOW:_»Initially, please. |

THE COURT: Okay. I'1l leave it in.

Any other objections or comments?

MR.»DEMBER: No, your Honor.

MS. SHELLOW: No, your Honor.

THEACOURT: Okay. 1I'll call on each of the lawyers
ahd’the deféndant for any other objections and any statements
they want to méké in connection with sentence.

Ms. Shellow, have you reviewed the presentence report,>
the recommendation and the addendum and discussed them with the
defendant?

MS. SHELLOW: I have, your Honor.

THE COURT: Other than I've already noted, do‘you have
any objections?

MS. SHELLOW: I do not to the PSR, yoﬁr Honor.

THE COURT:‘ I'll listen to you for anything you wish
to tell me in connection with sentence, any statement you'd
like to make on the defendant's behalf, anything at all that
you'd like to tell me.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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MS. SHELLOW: Your Honor, I note at the outset that
the government did not in its reply papers respond to our
sentencing memorandum. They maintain in their papers that
Ms. Stewart is a hub pf comﬁunication between her client énd
the IG.

I note that in the almost eight years from the time
that she was indicted until today there's been no continuing
allegation qf any contact whatsoever. There's been no
suggestion from the goﬁernment of any impropriety or any
improper words in relation to -- that is, communications with
any of the people who are described either in the indictment or
about whom evidence was presented at trial. Ms. Stewart
traveled freely during those years with the permissionﬁof the
Court, and there is absolutely no suggestion that she is a
threat -- or a terrorist threat inAany way, shape or form in
her hub-like capacity. Former Attorney General Ramsey Clark
suggests that her conduct and his are indistinguishable in many
ways, perhaps in style and frequency during these years.

Lastly, I guess I would note, your Honor, that in
approaching the sufficient but not greater than necessary
standard, the materiais that we provided to the Court about the
Guantanamo lawyers sets up book end opposite, which we have
Judge Walker's collected cases in footnote four.

The Guantanamo lawyers, who are doing phenomenal work,
have been accused by the government of significant conduct, but

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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there is no punishment there. And sdmewhere in between lies
the right answer for what is sufficient but not greater than
necessary. The allegations are set forth in the Justice
Department's letters ranging from photographs of badges and
drawings of maps.

We're not suggesting that Ms. Stewart doesn't stand in
a different place here today. Rather, what we say is that in
looking at assessingAthe reasonablenesé and the sufficient but.
not gréater than necessary to arrive at a just sentence, thét
this is another point>of reference for the Court.

Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, Ms. Shellow.

Ms. Stewart, have you reviewed the presentence réport,
the recommendation and the addendum and discussed them with
your lawyer?

THE DEFENDANT: I have, your Honor.

THE COURT: Other than I've aiready noted, do you have
any objections?

THE DEFENDANT: None, yoﬁr Honoi.

THE COURT: 1I'll listen to you for anything that you
wish to tell me in connection with gsentence, any statement
you'd like to make, anything at all that you'd like to ﬁell me.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, Judge. |

I never thbught I would be confronting this moment
again. It was terribly difficult thé‘firét time around, almost

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
) - (212) 805-0300
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four years ago, and the pain.is oVefwhelming now. I don't want
to prolong ﬁhe’proceedings --

THE COURT: Take aé long -- I have as much time. I
always éell defendants, take as much time aévydu want.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, Sir.

-- with any unnecessary repetitions. I spoke the last
time, and you still have my letter. You also have all the
expressions of support from my family and friends.

I want to start with the issue that the circuit
directed your Honor to address, Whether I committed perjury._
My lawyers have'ably made the legal arguments. I want to
respond personally. |

As your Honor reéognized the last time we were here, I
have spent my legal career acting for the poor, the
disadvantaged,bthe unpopular and the people of my community.' I
have tried a lot of'jury caseé.‘ I respecf the jury as an |
institution, and I would never say to a jury anything that I do
not believe to be trué; and that includes especially what I
said under oath to my jury.

I did not commit perjury. I did not attempt to
obstruct justice. I spoke only the truth as I knew it.

I also want to speak to you personally and directly on
two other subjects that Were remarked upOn by the Circuit Court
and included in the government's arguments. First, i, of
course, refer to standing on my head, my remarks upon leaving

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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the courthouse on October 16; 2006, after the first sentencing.
Second, I refer tolmy answer to the question, would I do it
again?

First, I have learned that no one, and especially'nqt
this 70-year-old woman in questionable health, can do 28 months
standing on her head, not in prison. I was wroﬁg. Over the
last almost eight months prison has diminished me. - Daily I

confront the prospect of death, death by a cancer that I fear

;may reappear, death as a result of the length of the sentence

requested by the government. I endure_medical procedures with
nothing to distract me from the unknowns to come.

I sense myself losing pieces of my personhood. My
sense of inquiry has been repiaced by a sense of wariness. My
sense of compassion is subordinated to expediency. Once-I
could think creatively éhd clearly. Now I see my thougﬁts are
becoming regimented to match the institutional regulation. I
feel my world, once filled with love and laughter, kindness and
work in the company of my husband, surrounded by my children
and grandchildren, slipping away; a widening rift. And there
is so little I can do about it.

I look around me at the other éirls, ladies, the women
who live with me on my floor. They are so needy. I am not
talking about needy in the sense of needing legal advice. I am
meticuldusly careful not to slip into my past roles, talking
about their cases with them. I mean needy in the sense they

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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heed to learn hbw tollearn.

From the-fime I was 22 years old and walkedvinto my
first classroom, I've always believed‘ﬁhat-education is the
answer. I know how té teach. hI_know how to counsel; We all
need comfort for all our fears: We all need someone to lean

oh, the soft shoulder, the sympathetic ear. But the reality is

that each of us is alone. I was eager to contribute to

institutional rigidity but foreclosed the posSibility of
teaching either GED oi -- I'm sorry -- oOr éven basic literacy.

My fears now are about losing touch wifh those I love
and éuffering some unknown medical complication, hospitalized
with no one to hold my hand. Each day my hope is that I will
make it to tomorrow.

When I stood outside this courthouse after-you imposed
your original sentence, I waé exhausted, mentally drainéd, but
overjoyed. The goverﬂﬁent wanted me then, as it does now, to
épend the rest of my life in prison. They éskéd for 30 years.
Today they ask for 15 to 30. Either way, it's a potential
death sentence. |

You‘gave me back the promise of a future, a future I
could share with my family in the company of the world of my
friénds and the world outside. Twenty-eight ﬁonths set a
horizon. It was a journey I had to make and one I thdught I
could complete. I could see where I was going, and I had an
event I.could anticipate: Freedom. You gave me back the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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promise of my life. That's all I meant to say. Twenty—eightA
months, I will live through this, not standing on my head.

THE COURT: I'm sorry; 'Twenty~eight months, I didn't
hear vyou.

THE DEFENDANT: I said 28 months, I will live through

“this; not standing on my head. That, I know for sure. Just

surviving.
To understand the do it again response, I ask you

please to focus on the "it." To me the it has élways been

about representing my clients with selfless, I hope,

compassion, putting their needs before my own. It was the
clieﬁt as a human being, not his cause, that I represented. He
was old and blind. After years of diabetes he had lost his
sense of touch. He could no longer read Braille. The prison
regulations forbade him from communicating with anyone, even
hié jailers. -He did not participate in the communal fights of
his religion. His conditions of confinement and his
deteriorating health compelled me, not his politics.

Times have changed. And with hindsighf, Ramsey Clark
i; right when he said that we should have gone to coﬁrt at the
first rumblings of government disapproval. Unreasonable
restrictions such as the SAMs needs to be challenged and -
overturning improper regulations in the role of the Court under
the rule of law. I should have followed that course. That
should ﬁéve been my instinct, but it Wasn't.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Would I do it again? When the "it" means
compassionately represent my client, the answer is, I would.
When thé it means abiding by‘unfair and arbitrator regulations
that seriously compromise my ability to'represent my client, I
would do it differently. A license to practice law is a
license to use our best judgment on behalf of those who need
us. In this I did not succeed, and this I would do
differently.

The decision I made weighs heavily on me. As a
criminal lawyer for almost 30 years, I knew or thought I knew
thatAprison was an alienaﬁing experience. The reality is worse
than I could have imagined. You go through it drawing in work
from the edge, cut off from what sustains you, becoming less
and less.

My 15-year-old grandson is a fine boy; smart,
sensitiye, love of the whole family, a true city boy, too,
sévvy negotiating adolescence. He came to visit me once in
December when I was first in jail. And as we spoke, his eyes
filled with tears. Soon he was weeping openly in a room full
of visitors, strangers, some his own age. He couldn't stop and
he cried silently for the rest of the visit. After he was
home, he told his parents that he couldn't visit again. He
couldn't bear to see me'in that place.

It's been seven ﬁonths aﬁd I haven't seen him siﬁce.
He writes me short letters. I write to him and send him

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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clippings I think he'll like from The Times. We speak
occasionally on the phone, superficialiy, only a few minutes a
month. But I see him moving away. If I am in prison for an
extended period of time, I will lose him altogethér. And I may
never have a chance to bona with the niné younger couéins.
That is the isolating nature of the place.>

I am revi&ed during the one-hour visiting one time per
week of my husband, family and oldest friends. But when they

leave, I shrink again. It returns. As I said, with a 28-month

sentence, there is a horizon out there in the distance for me

and for them. I would be able to remember and celebrate the
lives and the passing of dear ones} relatives, ffiehds;
COmradés,Aand be able to say good-bye to them. I willlétill be
ablé to do good for my community and, Judge, my country.

I ask you today to reimpose the 28-month sentence. I
did not commit perjury. A 1l5-year sentence, the lowest of the
government reéommendations,'l repeat, is a potential death
sentence for me. Twenty-eight months Was and is just,
reasonable and sufficient but not greater than necessary. It
embodies the true qualities of mercy and justice to all.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Stewart.

Mr. Dember?

MR. DEMBER: Yes, your Honér.

THE COURT: Has the government reviewed the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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presentence report, the recémmendation and addendum?

MR. DEMBER: We have, your Honor.

THE COURT: Doés the government have any objections?.

MR. DEMBER: No, we do not. |

'THEVCOURT: I'li listen to you fof anything the
government wishes to tell me in connection with sentence.

MR. DEMBER: Your Honor, may I\speak from the podium?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. DEMBER: I have much to say, your Honor, much to

- say about this sentence. And I ask the Court to bear with me.

When a person commits seiious crimes/ crimes that
place the lives of innocent people in danger, a seﬁtence that
includes a substantial period of incarceration is warranted.
Such is the case of Lynne Stewart. This was not some trivial

matter, some violation of some administrative rules by a lawyer

" engaged in legitimate legal'representation of a client, as

Ms. Stewart would have the Court believe.

Ms. Stewart gave aid to a proviolence -faction of the
vicious terrorist organization and one of its leaders. The
Court has to considér obviously all the factors under 3553 (a).
As we've said in our pépers, itls the government's view the
most important, the most compelling factor, the one that should -
outweigh all others, is the seriousness of this crime.

Ms. Stewart was convicted of conspiracy to defraud the
United States, lying to the government, conspiring to provide

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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16

material support and, most seriously, in faét, providing the
material support to a conspiracy. to commit"murder. She
committed these very serious crimes, your Honor, with the very
possibility that injury, that death couid result. She did so
knowingly, intending that when she provided hér client -- when
she provided her client to that murder -- conspiracy to murder,
which essentially was faha and Sattar's attempt to end the
ceasefire-in Egypt, unilaterally called by their terrorist
organization, Islamic Group, and renew terrorist activity.
That's what she knew. She was convicted of that.

| And part of that conviction was the fact that she knew
there‘was_a conspiracy to murder. And Sﬁe knew; either she
knéw or intended,'that she was providing’her client, an
influential leader of that terrorist group, to that conspiracy
because of his influence, because‘of what‘the others thought of
him; that théyAwould hopefully in their eyes be able to
reinstitute terrorist activity against the Egyptian government.
She knew all of that.

What she did essentially was provide a terrorist
leader to a terrorist organization for the purpoée of resumi@g
that organization's terrorist activity. 1In a nut shell, that's
what she_did.' And she did it not by dealing with low-level
members of the group, but dealing with and through its 1eaders.

Your Honor, I'ﬁ not going to spend a lot of time
talking about the evidence. In our initial submission for this

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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resentehcing, we've provided the Court with the most detailed
account of the evidence that was presented in this case that

proved this defendant's guilt. But, you know, when she did

‘this, one of the most striking things to the government, your

Honor, is what she knew, what she knew and when she was-
éngaging in thesevcrimes, what she knew about the Islamic
Group.

She knew itvwas a terrorist organization. She knew
about the Luxor massacie, where 58 foreign tourists were
murdered, as well as four guards. She knew about other
terrorist activity by this group. She knew the group focused
its attentién on'its attack on the Egyﬁtian government by
killing foreign tourists. She knew all this. And yet she did
what she did.

Your‘Honor,‘as the evidence piayed out,aobviously‘she‘
delivered terrorist messages‘to her client. She took the

messages from him and passed them on. She announced it to the

world. This was, in fact, remarkable conduct, remarkable in

light of what she knew about who she was dealing with. There

has been a>suggestion in the defense papers, your Honor, by a

judge on the Second Circuit Court of Appeals, that, gee, if
September 11th had happened, taken place, before Ms. Stewart
had engaged in this coﬁduct, maybe she‘would have had greater
insight. Maybe she would‘have'restrained herself. Maybe she
would have been more sensitive to what she was doing.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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That's an argument your Honor can easily be disposed |
of. She knew all about this group when she committed the
crimes. She knew about their violence. She knew about her
client. She knew about what he was convicted of. She knew
about his participation in the conspiracy df blowing up the
World Trade Center in 1993. She sat through his trial. She
sat through weeks of testimony directed specifically at that
bombing. = She knew What they were capable of. She didn't need
September 1lth as a wake-up call to realize, these peoplg mean
business.

One of the most striking parts of this case, your

‘Honor, which perhaps didn't receive as much attention, didn't

receive much argument on, was the fatwah. Your Honor will
remember a fatwah. That was drafted by Mr. Sattar and Taha.
Ms. Stewart had nothing to do with the drafting of that fatwah.
In fact, her client had nothing to do with the dfafting of the
fatwah. It was a fatwah which called for thé murder ofbiews
everywhere and anywhere they could be found. And Sattar and
Taha drafted it in Abdel Rahman's name and diafted it in his
style of Writing so that others, once ﬁhey issued it, would
believe it, in fact, had been issued by Abdel Rahman.

Aﬁd this was.done a few months after Ms. Stewart had
called Mr. Salaheddin, the Cairo—based Reuters reporter, and
announced to the world that Abdel Rahman was withdrawing his
support for the ceasefire. This was after the fire stofm

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS; P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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that that press release caused in the Middle East, and

particularly in Egypt, amongst members of the Islamic Group.

And this was after Ms. Stewart again, again in defiance of all

the rules and regulations she knew she had to obey, again
issued a reaffirmation of his withdrawal of support for the
ceasefire. |

,And so the world believed and knew that Abdel Rahman,
though under SAMs, could speak and could direct and communicate
with his jihaddist followers;

So when Taha and Sattar issued their fatwah, sent to
the Arab papers in the Middle East, and it gets published,

people believed it. And why“do they believe it, that it comes

generally from Abdel Rahman? Because of what Ms. Stewart did,

by initially broadcasting hié Witharawal of support. ANow,
what's most interesting about that fatwah and as it pertains to
Ms. Stewart, it's not that it was issued because it was issued
without her knowledge. And she had nothing to do with it. But
once she'found out about'it, once she learned about it, and she
was told about it by Mr. Yousry, who himself didn't know

anything about it until one day during one of those prison

~calls that he had with Abdel Rahman, is reading a newspaper

that Sattar told him to read to Abdel Rahman, and he reads an
article about the issuance of the fatwah by Abdel Rahman.

And Yousry tells Ms. Stewart about it. And he tells
Mé. Stewart that he has spoken to Ramsey Clark, and Ramsey

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Clark was very concerned about the fatwah; very concerned in

'light of the withdfawal of support that had been published with

respéct to this fatwah, they would be cut off.

And Ms. Stewart's reaction to all that is truly
telling about who she is and what she did in this case.
Essentially what she said was, essentially, I don't care what
Ramsey Clark has to say. I don't care wha£ the governmeﬁt
festrictibns are. I don't care about the SAMs. Abdel Rahman's"
words are going to get out. They can't contain him.

And what she also did was say, if Abdel Rahman is for

that fatwah, so is she. So is she. A fatwah calling directly,

explicitly, for the murder of Jews everywhere. And it was
suggested, this is a bad idea, this is not good for Abdel
Rahman. Her reaction was, well, if‘he’s for it, I'm for it,
too. And certainly if somebody had issued a statement in his
name in which he had called for Palestinians to stop throwing
stones .at israelis, well, that would be a travesty. That would
be a tragedy. But it's certainly fine and okay for him to be
issuing statements about murdering Jews evérywhere.

One of the striking things about this éase, your

. Honor, is not just simply her conduct in providing material

support to a terrorist mgrder conspiracy;‘ith the fact that
she repeatedly, repeatedly lied to the government and deceived
the government. And obviously that's reflected in her
convictions on the 2001 charges.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Your Honor, I want to briefly talk about some of the

other factors involved. Obviously it's our position -- and

‘actually, the Second Circuit has indicated, has ruled

essentially in this case, Ms. Stewart.has conceded, certainly
the terrorism enhancement applies. I'm not going tb repeat our
arguments that are in our briefing, Quf éubmissions; your |
Honor. It's the government's position clearly that the fact
that Ms. Stewart's conduct did not result in death or injury is
not a basis for variance when it comes to the terrorism
enhancement. We've made that argument.v I'm not going to
repeat them here.
Let me talk a little bit about the perjury, your

Honor, that Mé. Stewart was talking about.

| One thing, having been involved in this case from
certainly trial through today, your Honor, one thing it seems
to be almost a current theme with Ms. Stewart is that
Ms. Stewart and the truth seem to frequentl?,travel in
different‘directions. It!'s not just a question,‘your Honor, of
her lying to the government in hef,affirmations repeatedly.
You know, there's a small little piece of evidence we included
introduced at trial; we referénce it in our first submission
for this reséntenCing, youi Honor. Your Honor may remember it.
it's a conversation Ms. Stewart had with Mr. Sattar at some
point after the withdrawal of support for the ceasefire. And
they're talking about Abdel Rahman and how he refuses to take

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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his medicatioﬁ and insulin in ﬁhé prison.

And what Ms. Stewart is being told by Sattar is, well,
certainly he just refuses to do it, but that Abdel Rahman's
sons want to publish a claim or put out in the media that, in
fact, the United States authorities are denying him his

insulin, denying him his medication.

And if your Honor remembers that conversation -- and
it's in our briefing -- Sattar is saying to her, no, it's just
Abdel Rahman refusing to take his -- being difficult and

‘refusing to take his medication. But she essentially sanctions

that publication of the falsehood that, in fact, the American
authorities are denying him his medication. Certainly

something inflammatory and dangerous, if published in the

- Middle East. But she's okay with that, despite the féct_that

she knew full well it wasn't the truth.

You know, reading through all the defense submissions
that were prbvided to the Court and the government with respect
to this resén£encing, one of the things that caught my eye,
your Honor, was an affidavit'submitted on behalf of Ms. Stewart
from Elizabeth Fink. Again, your Honor, it Was‘a féscinating
reading fof this reason alone, your Honor: It was Ms. Fink's,
I guéss on behalf of the defendant, trying to rewrite history
in this case. All of a sudden, despite what your Honor has sat
through, a nine-month trial, great deal of eVidence, all of a
sudden, according to defense, now Mr. Yousry is one of the
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masterminds behind all these crimes.

The evidence as the goverﬁment saw 1it, and we beiieve
your Honor saw it at theAsentenéing of Mr. Yousry, is that he
was the least culpable of the three defendants; certainly had
committed serious crimes, was sentenced for those serious
crimes to hold accountablelfor those serious crimés. But the

arguments made on the defendant's behalf, esSentially by the

-defendant, was, uh-oh, no, I'm just sort of an innocent

bystander here, wasn't paying attention. It was Sattar and
Yousry who were the masterminds. Again, another example of
Ms. Stewart not quite being truthful.

And that takes us to her trial testimony, your Honor,

. which, despite her claims that, in fact, she testified

truthfully, well,ithe evidence about that, about the fact that
she was untruﬁhful, couldn't be more compelling and more
obvious.

What is clear from all of this, the perjury, the false
statement allegations, the claim about Mr. Yousry, the insulin
claim, is that Ms. Stewart says things regardless of theii
truth when it suits her purpose. And that's what she did when
she testified at trial. You know, we'veiidentified eight
different -- I'll call them acts of perjury for your Honor.

They're in our briefing. I won't go through each of them,

~frankly.

One of the main ones was that essentially there was a

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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bubble_concept.she created for the purposé of the tfial, and
that, in fact, she and the other lawyers were permitted to
violate the SAMs with impunity, even though, you know, the only
people signing affirmations in this case were the attorneys.
But she was allowed to do that. |

Now, we've cited all of the evidence in the case, your
Hondr, that clearly proves thét to be untrue, that not to be

her belief. And let me just highlight a few. She claims she

was allowed to violate the SAMs, issue statements to the press

with Abdel Rahman's statements, yet when she did it in June of
2000, ﬁhen she issued his withdrawal of support for the
ceasefire, what does she tell the reporter who she issued it
to? Because of what she's doing by issuing this statement by

Abdel Rahman; the authorities will not let her, likely not let

her see him again.

Why did she say that? Because she knew, in fact, she
was not allowed to do it. And what did she say a few days
later to Lisa Sattar, when word of Abdel Rahman's withdrawal
was spreading like wild‘fire? She said} well, uh~dh, Pat
Fitzgerald, the Assistant US Attorney dealing with her and the
SAMs, is likely-ﬁo find this out. I can't hide it from him.
And there will be consequenées for Ms. Stewart. Well, gee
whiz, if she thought she was allowed to violate the SAMs with
impunity and issue Abdel Rahman's statements, why on earth
would she say that? Because, in fact, she knew she couldn't.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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And then, of course, the classic statement to
Mr. Yousry during a telephone conversation. After the
withdrawal of support was issued, after people in the Middle
East were criticizing the statement, her claiming it actually
came from Sattar, not from Abdel Rahman, Ms. Stewart told
Yousry, you know, in response to that, she was risking her
whole career by issuing this statement, and she didn't do it
lightly. Why? Because she knew full well she couldn't do it.

That's why she smuggled terrorist messages into the’prison and

- smuggled them out. That's why she did covering noises and

deception,'so.that the guards who were outside the conference
room Qhere she met with Abdel Rahman wouldn't know when she
was, and Yousry were translating the Sattar and Taha letters
and statements and messages to him, the terrorist messages;
covering that up, but not covering up when they were telking‘
about innocueus topics, becauseAshe knew full well she |

couldn't. I can go on and on and on, your Honor, discussing

the proof that clearly establishes that Ms. Stewart repeatedly

committed perjury in this case.

I will speak briefly about the enhancement involving
abuse of trust. We spoke atllength about this the last time we
were at sentencing, your Honor. The government put a lot of
faith in Ms. Stewart, trusted her, as the government should be

able to trust any defense attorney, any lawyer they deal with.

- She signed affirmations that she herself under oath said

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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thought it was oaths,‘promises to abide by the SAMs . The

" government took her at her word, believed, in fact, and trusted

her; believed her nnd trusted her that‘she would be abiding by
the SAMs.

In fact; when she went and visited Abdel Rahman back
in May of 2000> when she Smugglea’those terrorism messages to
him which led eventually to the préss release, the announcement
to tne world, she actually had signed, if your Honor remembers,
the affirmation, but not sent it to the US Attorney's office.

But that didn't prevent her from going and seeing him. And why

was that? Because of the trust, the assumption that if

Ms. Stewart makes a promise, that's a promise we can rely on,
we can trust.

The government was wrong. It was very wrong. You
know, the SAMs didn't require that when she shgwed‘up at
whatever prison Abdel Rahman was in, that she had to be
searched or that hér briefcase or belgngings had to be searched
to make sure she wasn't smuggling messages into him. That
never occurred. She was treated like any other visitor with
any other prisoner. Why? She was tfusted. Trusted to be a
lawyer to do the lawyerly work, not what she was doing.

You know, there is a mention by Ms. Shellow about the
Guantanamo Bay lawyers. The last two days I've read what the
defense has provided about some supposéd wrongdoing done by
some iawyers who are apparéntly representing detainees at

' SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Guantanamo Bay, lawyers from some well known law firms. And T
read fhose documents a few times, aﬁd appérently there's some
indications those lawyers engaged in some kind bf wrongdoing.
I have yet to figure out from reading those documents,
yoﬁr Honor, whether any of them have committed any crimes. It

doesn't appear to be that they've committed any crimes, and

certainly Ms. Stewart and her attorneys haven't indicated to at

least the gbvernment what crimes they think those lawyers
committed. |

Well, frankly, it sounds‘like they may have violated a
protective order. They‘may have. They may have violated somé
regulations. But what's crystal clear about those lawyers,
YOuf Honor, is that they aidn't provide material support to a
murder conspiracy. They didn't provide a coconspirator to a
conspiracy that they knew was to murder innocent people.
That's what Ms. Stewart did. So whatever these lawyers did in
relation to these Guantanamo Bay detainees has nothing to do
with this case. And to compare that conduct to Ms. Stewart's
is to trivialize what Ms. Stewart did in«this case.

Now, thefe‘s been a suggestion at least by one judge
that perhaps the fact that Mr. Jabara and Mr. Clark were not
prosecuted'is some -- a factor that the Couft should consider
in determining the appropriate sentence for Ms. Stewart. We
have said this to the Court é number of times in relation to -
various motions Ms. Stewart made in this case, but the fact of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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this matter is Mr. Jabara and Mr. Clark did not do what
Ms. Stewart did do. 1In fact, they refused to do what she did.
And that clearly distinguishes them from her, becaﬁse unlike
her, they refused, they refused to provide Abdel Rahman to a
conspiracy to murder. They knew better.

'And, in fact, as your Honor may remember, the

‘February 2000 visit and the evidence about that visit, where

Mr. Jabara is essentially telling Mr. Yousry he wasn't going to
let Abdel Rahman‘wfite a letter to the Islamic Group. He Was

not going to announce anYthing publicly about Abdel Rahman's

view of the ceasefire and refused to do it. And Mr. Clark

didn't do it either.

Your Honor, - among the factops your Honor has to
consider under 3553 (a) is in determining an"appropriate
sentence whether this serves as a deterrent, whether it
pfomotes respect for the law.

As we presented to the Court in our briefing in a DVD

- that we provided to the Court with various public statements

made by Ms. Stewart, what comes out, and what is crystal clear,

" is that she has no remorse for the crimes she committed. 1In

fact, she barely-acknowledges them. She's demonstrated no
acceptance of responsibility. In faét, she'é come out
literally the day before and the day she surrendered to start
her sentence in this~case‘and unequivocally told an interviewer
on some apparently cable station and the media right before she

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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surrendered that, you know, no regrets, you know. She would do
what she did again. That's disturbing, your Honor. She
clearly is not deterred by a sentence of 28 months. I don't

know what would deter Ms. Stewart, but certainly not the

original sentence in this case.

The Court has to and should, consider Ms. Stewart's
personal characteristics, her health, her age, certainly. And
we remind the Court that, you know, Ms. Stewart committed these
crimes, yes, it's now nine, ten years ago when she's committed
them. It's not four or fiveAyears ago. About five years ago
she committed perjﬁry in trying to cover up those crimes. But
it's‘only recently, your Honor, where she announced to the
world that, you know, she has no regrets; knowing evefything
she knows now, she would do what she did again at her current
age.

Your Honor, on the last occasion certainly, it's
argued by the defense, your Honor should consider her career.
And there is no dispute here, your Honor. Ms. Stewart haé done
good as a lawyer, represented somévunpopular people, poor
people. We recognize that. ' You know, we certainly know the
Court will and should take that into consideration. As a
lawyer, she's done much good. But, your Honor, Ms. StewartAin
the last several years as a lawyer, and even after not losing
her license, has done a tremendous disservice as a lawyer and
also to the legal profession.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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In the first instance, your Honor, her eXample and

what she did in this case as a lawyer, repeatedly lying to the

government, providing a terrorist leader to a conspiracy to

murder, committing perjury, if there was anyone who should

uhderstand and appreciate an oath, it's Ms. Stewert, a person
who's tried many cases in this courthouse and this district and
in state court and other places. |

Then she got on the witness stahd, and as we aréued,
your Hoﬁor, repeatedly committed perjury during her trial as a
lawyer. She abused her license to commit the crime she

committed. This is not a situation where we have a lawyer who

.happened to commit a crime. that has no relationship to being a

lawyer. In fact, she used it. She used her license to commit
these crimes. The loss of her license, your Hoﬁor; isn't a
mitigating factor. The fact that she used it to commit these
crimes is an aggravating factor.

The disservice she's also provided to the profession,
one\only needs to look at some of the Second Circuit - opinions.
Judge Walker makes a point, you know, perhaps because of
Ms. Stewart's conduct, these kinds of caées, terrorism cases,
your Honor, may not be brought in Article III courts. That's
Judge Walker's view.

Judge Jacobs has opined that maYbe judges will stop
trusting lawyers, trusting lawyers with sensitive information,
corifidential information, secret‘information in terrorism type

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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cases or even in constitutional torts casés based on the kind
of conduct that Ms. Stewart engaged in. She's done a
disservice to the profession, your Honor.

But perhaps in our view one of the.greatest
disservices she did, your Honor, was just before, literally
minutes before she surrendered to start her sentence in this
cése, we provided your Honor with -- on that'DVD sort of her
last press conference outside this very courtroom. And at one
point during that presé conference, Ms. Stewart was asked,
essentially, what are the'implications of your'case,

Ms. Stewart? And here's what she said: I believe the larger
implication is that my case was alWays a warning shot to
lawyers. Don't do what Lynne did. Don't advocate for your
client in a stringent, in a strong way, or you will end up like
she did, disbarred and in jail. I think that this is a warning
to the lawyers who are now being looked at to handle the latest
cases of the men who were tortured and held offshore for year
after year after year.

Clearly she's feferring, your Honor, I believe to the .
September 11th defendants. And I ask the Court, we're talking,
of course, is that really what this case was all about? Your |

Honor sat through a nine-month trial. During nine -- the

~ better part of nine days of that trial Ms. Stewart sat on the

witness stand under oath. ' At no point in time did she ever

explain to us, any of us, how smuggling terrorist messages into
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- 32

a jail is legitimate representation. At no point did she
explain to any of us how announcing from a terrorist leader hisA
withdrawal of support for a ceasefire, sanctioning the
resnmptibnlof terro:iSt violence in Egypt and, you know,
encouraging the Islamic Group, a terrorist group, to do such is
legitimate representation, how lying repeatedly to the
government in affirmations is legitimate representation; how
providing a terrorist leader to a conspiracy to murder is’
legitimate representation.

She was net prosecuted for representing.her client.
If Ms. Stewart wants to deny her guilt for all eternity, that's
her right. She's just frankly, your Honof, another criminal
who refuses to accept responsibility for the extraordinarily
serious conduct she engaged in.

Your Honor, wnat she said, the quote‘that-I just

referred to, your Honor, is yet another untruth, another lie by

~Ms. Stewart. If she wants to perpetuate that lie, that's her

business. But when she did that, your Honor, she does a
terrible disservice to the legal community, to the judicial
system. And what she did, your Honor, besides trying to or

perhaps thinking that the government is intimidating, what she

4does, your Honor, is essentially pass this false lie, this-

false message, this lie to the defense bar, people who don't
understand the nature of the evidence in this case, that, in
fact, that's why she was prdsecuted, because she strongly
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advocated for her client.

Well, the conduct IAjust referred to, your‘HOnor, that
she couldn't explain away as legitimate representation; was not
strong advocacy. It was plain and simply foreigﬁ, and she
refuses to accept the fact that she is just, when it comes to
this conduct, a criminal; not a lawyer, a criminal. She wants
to make herself out to be the victim, the victim of é
government that did nothing but essentially be victimized by
her. |

I will éome to a conclusion, your Honor. Thié is very
serious damage she engaged in, serious conduct, for a serious
substantial seﬁténce. It's the government's belief a sehtence
somewhere between 15 and 36 years would be sufficient and not
greater than necessary, and we urge your Honor to impose such a
sentence.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Ms. Shellow?

MS. SHELLOW; Your Honor, if I could have an
opportunity to respond to Mr. Dember.

THE COURT: Yes. 1I'll give him an opportunity to
respond to you also.. ‘

MS. SHELLOW: Your Honor, I‘ﬁ not going to repeat
Mr. Tigar's summation, nor am I going to respond to
Mr. Dember's recitation of the evidence. We were all there.
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You've been‘through it, at least by my count, three times in
wiitten pleadings. There was actually -- there was the
summation, there weré the post-conviction motions, there was
the originél sentencing memoranda and there are now the current
sentencing memoranda, four times. A coﬁple of the new points,
however, I would like to respond td.

What Judge Calabresi said was that Ms. Stewart's
conduct took place shortly before the attacks of September 11,
an event that illustrates in particularly eXéruciating fashion
that'results do matter to us. He says, however,Aand hé knows,
it.does not diminish the gravity of the crimes, to take
judicial notice of their timing and to recognize that our
attitudes about her conduct have inevitably been influenced by
the tragedy of that day. Not only have our or the judiciary's
attitudes about Ms. Stewart's conduct being‘changed by that
day, but Ms. Stewart's conduct can't be viewed in a different 
context. Our worlds have changed, and she didn't have the
benefit of khowiﬁg what was going to happen in the future. Had
9/11 occurred, hér conduct might well have been different. We
judge it with a post-9/11 view, but it hadn't happened yet.
And Judge Calaﬁresi points out that perhaps she’would have been
more sensitive, and that is a legitimate factor to take into
cbnsideration in determining whether the sentence is sufficient
but not greater than necessary.
One minute, your Honpr.'
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THE COURT: Sure.

MS. SHELLOW: Mr. Dember ingquired about the list of
crimes that might have beén committed by the lawyers identified
in the Guantanamo papers that we provided. That's not our

place. I am not going to list for the government the Title 18

‘offenses that might apply. It is sufficient to note that on

the stationery of the civil divisi@n of the United States
Department of Justice, serious charges are lodged aéainst
lawyers that minimally violate a protéctive order and that may
well constitute other»crimes.

That the government, on the one hand, can make those
allegations against those lawyers and not proceed criminally
and stand here and request 15 fo 30 years for Ms. Stewart We
find to be offensive. It is, again, an indication of a
sentence that is sufficient but not -greater than necessary at
28 months.

You know that those Guantanamo lawyers in connection

‘with their conduct, they talk about it at least in some of

~ those pleadings as being part of their representation of their

client, directly part of that répresentatibn. As a footnote,
Mr. Dember at length -- not so at length, relatively spéaking,
I guess, says, but Ms. Stewért néverkjustified what she did in
the context of representing her client. Quite the contrary.
The record does reflect that she did, in fact, testify about
how what she did related directly to her representation of her

‘SOﬁTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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client. Perhaps the word bubble is -- it's unfortunate, but
it's there. Whether it's a form of estoppel, whether it's a
form of understanding, whether it's a form of the way that the
lawyers in the past had come to understand the government --
the way the government was feacting under these new SAMs,
whatever it is; it is as much a parﬁ of directly representing
Sheikh Omar Abdel Rahman as the conduct that the Guantanamo |
lawyers claim is directly related to representing their
clients. |

Mf. Dember makes fleeting reference to Ms. Fink's
affirmation iﬁ this case. The materials that we submitted in
our opening papers; including Ms. Fink's affirmation, are
submitted for the purpose of pointing out to the Court that
there are other ways to view the eVidence. It's not that it
doesn't support the conviction, but that it is an explanation,
that, again, goes to suffiéient but not greater than neéesséry.
A glass hélf’full or a glass half empty is still é glass.
There are circumstances and“constraints at trial that are not
present at sentencing. That's what:Ms. Fink's affirmation is
about.

Ms. Stewart said, and the government provided on that

‘DVD, that her prosecution and her conviction were a warning

shot to other lawyers. And many lawyers have written to this
Court about the chilling effect of the indictment and trial and
conviction of Ms. Stewart. Twenty-eight months as a general
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deterrent sentence combined with the indictment;btrial and the
sentencing should be well enough to convince any lawyer that
they have to be vefy careful. it is a chilling effect, your
Honof, to any one of us who stand up and represent criminal
defendants when one»of our own, for whom we have phenomenal
respect, finds herself in this terribly unfortunate situation.
It is a chilling effect every time a lawyer believes, as
Ms. Stewart did, that she was acting in the best interests of
her Client, finds‘herself so at odds with an understanding from
the government.

Ms. Stewart certainly never thought that this is where
she would end up; a sanction,'pefhaps, a bar complaint, being
prohibited from seeing him again. There were discussions with

the government. There was never a suggestion back in 2000 and

12001 that Ms. Stewart would find herself sitting at this table

today in these clothes. The young lawyers that she has
mentored over the years, her friends and her colleagues, are
certainly deterred by a 28-month sentence.

And Ms. Stewart's opportunity éver to do this again is
gone, as the Court acknowledged in its original sentence.

‘If I could'have'a moment, your Honor.

THE COURT: Sure.

(Pause)

MS. SHELLOW: Just a minute, your Honor. A couple of
last words, your Hoﬁor.
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Everything that the government said about
Ms. Stewart's perjury, everything that Ms. Stewart said in her
denial is covered not only in our papers but in Mr. Tigar's
declaration. I'm not going to go through it paragraph by
paragraph. I am similarly not going to go through Ramsey

Clark's explanation in which he makes clear that his conduct

‘and her conduct are one and the same in representing their

client. He remained a client. He remained a client with
legitimate legal interests in the United States and a goal that
could be achieved through the process and the rule of law.

Lastly, the government attributes to Ms. Stewart the
statementé in Ms. Fink's affirmation.. MS.'Fink is making‘an
argument and Ms. Stewart is her client. There's a deferential
issue, your Honor.

Your Honor, thank you.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, Ms. Shellow.

Mr. Dember?

MR. DEMBER: We have,nothing furthér to add, your
Honor. |

THE éOURT: All right. This case is before the Court
for resentencing. The Court previously imposed a sentence
consisting principally:of 28 months' imprisonment, but the
éourt of Appeals remanded the case for reséntencing. The Court
of Appeals explained, "We therefore remand this matter to the
district court for resentencing, in the course bf which»we

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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direct the Court to determine the issue of perjury, and if it
finds such perjury, to resentence Stewart so as to reflect that :
finding. The district court should also consider whether
Stewart's conduct as a laWyer triggers the special skill/abuse
of trust enhancement under the guidelines, see U.S.G. Section
3B1.3, and to reconsider the extent to which Stewart's status
as a lawyer affects the appropriate sentence. Finally, the
district court should further consider the overall question
whether the sentence to be given is appropriate in view of the
magnitude of the offense, which the Court itself has explicitiy
recognized. Although we do not preclude the district court's
elecﬁion to continue to impose a nonguideline senﬁence, we do
require that such a sentence selected after the reconsideration
we have directed begin with the terrorism enhancement and take
that enhancement into account. We have serious doubts that the
sentence was reasonable and think it appropriate to hear from
the district court further before deciding the issue." United
States v. Stewart, 590 F.3d 93, 151 (2d Cir. 2009). The Court
will, of course, consider each of the issues specified by the
Court of Appeals and engage in the resentencing of the
defendant as directed. |

I adopt the findings of fact in the presentence
report, except as I've already indicated earlier in this
proceeding, and except as noted below.

The first step in any sentencing proceeding is to

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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celculate the advisory guideline sentencing range. There is no
dispute that the Noveﬁber 1, 2060, edition of the guidelines
manual should be used, and the presentence report uses that
manual.

The presentence report diﬁided‘the offenses of
conviction into»two groups: Group 1, conspiracy to defraud the-
United States on false statements, consists of Counts One, Six
and Seven. Grcup 2, conspiracy to provide and conceal meterial

support to a terrorist act, consists of Counts Four and Five.

. The presentence report applied the terrorism enhancement to

each of the groups, and in the original sentencing the Court
found that it was appropriate to apply the terrorism
enhancement to each of the groups. See sentencing transcript
at 27 to 28 and 106.

In its current sentencing memorandum the government
only seeks to apply the terrorism enhancement to Gfoup 2, the
conspiracy to provide and conceal material support to a
terrorist act, which consists of Counts Four and Five. See
government, June 11, 2010, memo at 135 to 36. .However, the
probation’department has applied the enhancement to both
groups, and the Court did so at the first sentencing. And
there has, in fact, been no objection from the defense as to
this aspect of the presentence report. Applying the terrorism
enhancement tovboth groups, however,'does not change the
guideline sentencing range because the guideline range for

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Group 2 alone would provide a guideline sentencing range of 360
months, the statutorybmaximum. No higher sentence is possible
for the offenses for which the‘defendant was convicted.

The terrorism ehhancement,‘Section 3A1.4, applies if
the offehse is a felony that involved or was intended to
promote a federal crime of terrorism as defined in 18, U.S.C.,
Section 2332b(g). Pursuant to that section, a federal crime of
terrorism means an offense that is calculated to influence or
affect the conduct of government by intimidation or coercion,
or to retaliate against government conduct and is a violation
of certain specified statutes. The enhancement appiies to
Group 2 because the offense of which the defendant was
convicted in Count Five, providing and coneealing materiel
support to terrorist activity in violation of 18, U.S.C.,
Section 23397 involved a specifically enumerated crime of
terrorism, namely Section’2339A. And the crime of which she
was conricﬁed in Coﬁnt Four, a4conspiracy to violate
Section 2339A, was intended to promote a federal crime ef
terrorism, namely, Section 2339A and Section 956, both of which
are specifically enumerated crimes in Section 2332b(g) (5). The
enhancement applies to Group 1, Counts One, Six and Seven,
because thQse offenses were intended to promote the federal
crimes of terrorism, namely, the violations of Sections 956 and
2339A charged in Counts Two and Five.

At ﬁhe original sentencing the Court found and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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reaffirms that the defendant's actions were calculated to

affect the conduct of the Egyptian government through

intimidation and coercion. Indeed, the jury found that the
defendant possessed the specific intent to provide Abdel Rahman
as a coconspirator in a conspiracy‘to kill. The Court of“
Appeals has summarized some of‘the evidence supporting that
cénclusion. This Court also summarized some of that evidence
in the decision denying the defendant's motion for a judgment
of acquittal, and it is unnecessary to répeat all. of it here.

The evidence at trial supports the conclusion that the

defendant violated the Special Administrative Measures, SAMs,

smuggled terrorism messages to énd from Sheikh Abdel Rahman and
twice issued publicly ﬁis‘withdrawal of support for a ceasefire
which had otherwise called a halt to violence by the Islamic
Group against the Egyptian government in order, at the very

least, to have Sheikh Abdel Rahman transferred to Egypt or

released. See sentencing transcript at 108. The defendant's

conduct satisfies the requirements for the terrorism
enhancement for both groups of offenses.

Indeed, the defendant concedes that "This Court
applied the terrorism enhancement at Msf Stewart's last
sentence and correctly calculated the applicableAéuideline
range. Thus the appropriateness of thé terrorism enhancement
is not at issue." Stewart reply memo at 23.

Hence, there is no dispute that the terrorism

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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enhancement applies. This Court found it to be so initially.

The defendant agrees. And the Court of Appeals has directed

that the Court begin with the terrorism enhancement and take

that enhancement intovaccount, and the Court will do so.

Therefore, using the November 2000 guidelines as
éxplained in the presentence report, the total offense level is
41, the criminal history category is VI and the guideline

sentencing range is 360 months, the statutory maximum. It is

~useful to understand that this is the guideline calculation in

the presentence report. The guideliﬁe sentencing range is
capped at 360 ménths because that is the maximum sentence that
can be imposed in this case. And it can only be imposed by
taking the maximum sentence for each of the offenses of- |
conviction and running the sentences consecutively, namely; the
ten-year maximﬁm for the violation of Section 2339A and the
five-year maximum for the remaining four counts of conviction.

The government seeks two additional enhancements under

_the guidelines. First, the government urges that the defendant

committed perjury at trial and that the defendant should
receive a two-level enhancement under Section 3C1l.1 of the
guidelines for obstruction of justice.

The government also urges that the defendant abused
her position of trust and should receive a two-level
enhancement under Section 3Bl.3.

The Court of Appeals directed that the Court consider

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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these enhancements, and the Couft will, of course, do so. It
should be noted that these enhancements cannot increase the
guideline sentencing range, which is already capped at4360
months, the maximum sentence that can be imposed for all counts
added together and run consecutively. However, the Court
appreciates that the enhancements can be ﬁsed for the internal
calculation of the offense level and can also affectvthe
consideration of the sentencing factors under 18, U.S8.C.,
Section 3553(5).

The government seeks a two-level enhancement for
obstruction of justice under Section 3C1.1 of the guidelines
based on the defendant's alleged perjury at trial. Perjury
occurs when a witness "gives false testimony concerning a
material matter with the willful intent to provide false
testimony rather than as a result of confusion, miStake or
false memory." United States v. Dunnegan, 507 U.S. 87, 94
(1993) ; United States v. Case, 180 F.3d 464, 467 (24 Cir.
1999). "An obstruction enhancement based on perjury must be
sﬁpported by a finding that the defendant's statements
unambiguously demonstrate an attempt to obstruct. The district
court must determine by clear and convincing evidence that the
defendant provided false testimony concerning a material matter
with the:willful intent to prdvide false testimony." United
States v. Savoca, 596 F.3d 154, 159 (2d Cir. 2010), citaﬁidns
omitted. A court can take into account a jury's determination

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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when a defendant téstifies "to an essential element of thé
offense, such as the defendant's state of mind or the
defendant's participation in the acts charged in the
indictment, the judgment of conviction necessarily constitutes
a finding that thé contested testimony was false." United
States v. Duque; 123 Fed. Appx. 447 (2d Cir. February 18, 2005,
quoting United States v. Bonds, 933 F.2d 152, 155 (2d Cir.‘
1991). See also Savoca, 596 F.3d at 159.

The defendant made a series of statements at trial
that were clearly false concerning a material matter that were
made with the willful intent to provide false testimony. Any
of these statements would justify the enhancement, but ;he
defendantyactually made é number of such statements. These
statements involved her assertion that she believed tha£ she
was complying with the SAMs because the attorneys_operated in a
"bubble" and that, consequently, she did not violate tﬁe SAMs

or sign the false affirmation. More particularly, she

testified falsely, one, that it was understood by the United

States Attorney's Office and Abdel Rahman's'attorneys that the

SAMs contained a "bubble" which permitted Abdel Rahman's

~attorneys to issue press releases containing Abdel Rahman's

statements as part of their representation of him. Transcript
7717, 7532, éO8O to 81; two, that she kept her "prdmise to
abide by the plain language of the SAMs" and that she did not
believe that she violated "the SAMs or the-language of the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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SAMs." Transcript 7717, 7838, 7845, 8675 to 76; three, that
she did not believe that she violated any "command" or
restriction of the ﬁnited States of America. Transcript 7846;
and, four, and that she never signed a false affirmationgb
Transcript 7693. The government also points to an additional

statement that appears at pages 7828 to 29 of the transcript

which is too ambiguous to support a finding that the defendant

made a willfully false statement of fact.

With the exception noted, the remainder of these
statements were contradicted by the plain‘language of the SAMS,
which made it clear that Sheikh Abdel Rahman was prohibited
from communiéating with the media, including through his

attorneys, Government Exhibit 6 and 7. 1In her affirmation

Ms. Stewart promised that she would abide by the SAMs and would

not use her meetings to pass messages between third parties,

including the media and Sheikh Abdel Rahman. During her

~testimony the defendant conceded that the language of the SAMs

and the affirmations was clear and unambigubus. Transcript

8065 to 67.

The defendants's actions at the time evidenéed the
fact that she knew she was violating the‘SAMs.' And she
partigipated in smuggling the messages in and out of the prison
énd made covering noises while the messages were read or |
responses by Sheikh Rahman were dictated. Ih the course of the
May 2000 prison visiﬁ she and Mr. Yousry ackﬁowledged that if

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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_the guards found out that Mr. Yousry was reading Taha's message
‘to Sheikh Rahman, they would be "in trouble." Government

" Exhibit 1707X at 29. Moreover, on the second day of the

May 2000 visit, when Sheikh Abdel Rahman asked to hear the

~

letter from Mr. Sattar again with the message from Taha,

Mr. Yousry explained to Sheikh Abdel Rahman that defendant

Stewart had told him to leave the message in the car because of

an apparent concern "if they find it with us today after we go
Qut.ﬁ Government Exhibit 1711X at 31 to 32.

Defendant Stewart acknowledged at the time when she
spoke to the Réuters reporter that the United States
authorities may bar her from visiting Sheikh Rahman because of
the statement she was issuing. Transcript 5574. She also told
Lisa Sattar that-she would probably not be able to hide the
press release from Assistant US Attorney.Fitzgerald, and that
something would probably happen to her but she would live with
the repercussions; Government:Exhibit'lllsx at 2 to 3. She |
told Mr. Yousfy shortly after issuing the press release that

she was "risking her whole career" by disseminating Sheikh

‘Abdel Rahman's statement and that she had not done it lightly.

Defendant's Exhibit LS701T at 5 to 6. All of this
contemporaneous evidence demonstrates thatAdefendant Stewart,
in fact, knew that she was submitting false affirmations to the
governmeht and was knowingly violating'thé SAMs'by what she
did. |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Moreover, there is no evidence that Ms. Stewart.
asserted at the time that she operated in a bubble such that
the SAMs did not apply to her. Indeed, Assistant\US Attorney
Fitzgerald wrote to Ms. Stewart after she had publicly
disclosed Sheikh Rahman's withdrawal from the ceasefire and
advised her that release of thé statement as recorded in the
press was in violation of the SAMs imposed on Sheikh Rahman.
Government Exhibit 9. Nevertheless, after a further revision
of the SAMs she proceeded to sign a new affirmation to abidé by
the SAMs and then éroceeded to violate them again during the
July 200i visit.
| The defendant attempts to rely on the actions of
Messrs. Clark and Jabara to explain why she did not believe
what she was doing‘was a violation of the SAMs and why she

believed she operated within a bubble. But that argument is

-unavailing. The language of the SAMs was clear. The

defendant's false affirmations were clear. She acted in a
sufreptitious way and acknowledged at the time the seriousness
of her actions and the risk that she took and chose to do that
anyway . Further, the defendant's actions went further than
those of either Messrs. Clark or Jabara by publicizing
withdrawal from the ceasefire.

Similarly, the jury's finding that the defendant was
gqilty of conspiracy to defraud the government and submitting
two false affi:mations to the govérnment supports the finding

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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that the defendant willfully testified falsely at the trial

when she testified as indicated above. The jury's finding of

" guilt is inconsistent with the defendant's testimony that she

operated in a bubble, that she did not submit false
affirmations and that she did not violate the SAMs and did not
submit false affirmations. | .

Similarly, the defendant's testimony that she did not
believe that she "conspired with anyone to defraud the United
States of America, the Department of Justice and the Bureau of
Prisons out of its right to have the SAMs applied and
enforced," transcript 7688, and that she did not "beligve that
there Was a cdnspiracy that'involved Mr.‘Sattar or this fellow
Taha and others to kill or kidnap people in a foreign country"”
and did not make "Abdel Rahman availabie.to any conspiracy to
kill or kidnap people," transcriptb7968, were necessarily
inconsistent with the jury's finding of guilt and were false
testimony concerning material matters that cannot be ascribed
to mistake, inadvertence or faulty memory.

The jury's findings were supported by more than clear
and convinéing evidence. It is alsovélear that the purpose of
thebtestimony was to mislead‘the jury on material matters.

The government urges that several statements by the
defendant about Taha in her trial testimony: were knowingly

false. She testified that in the period 1996 through 2000 she

did not know the name Taha, although she had seen it in an

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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article in connection with her representation of Nasser Ahmed,
but the article waé just placed in a file and forgottén about .
Transcript 7650. She also ﬁestified that at the time of the
May 2000 prisoﬁ visit she did not know wholAbu Yasir was,
transcript 7738, and that on May 20, 2008, "Abu Yasir" did not
mean anything to her. Transcript 7791. It is undisputed thét
Abu Yasir is another name for Taha. Prior to the May 2000
visit thevdefendant had an article translated for her that made
clear that Taha was known'aé Abu Yasir and indicated his roie
in the Islamic Group. The defendant acknowledged having read
the article. Government Exhibit 2671, transcript 8132 to 35.
She also eﬁcountered the name on other memorable occasions.
The defendant smuggled or assisted in smuggling messages to
Sheikh Rahman durihg the May 2000 visit and his responses.
Government Exhibit 1706X»at 48 to 49, 53, Government
Exhibit 1707X at 34 to 36. The defendant acknowledged that for
each prison Qisit, Mr. Yoﬁsry translated for her all
correspondence and docﬁments that Mr. Sattar supplied to them
for the visit, transcript 7916 to 17, 8593 to 94, and that
after each visit Mr. Yousry translated for her all
cbrrespondence that Sheikh Abdel Rahman dictatea to him during
the visit. Transcript 7776 to 77, 8300. Mr. Yousry agreed.
Transcriét 9083 to 84, 9827 to 31.

During the May visit there was an explicit militant
statement attributed to Taha by name in response Eo events at

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Al-Azhar University which identified him as one of the Islamic

Group leadership.}>Government Exhibit 1706X at 48 to 49 and 53.
The statement attributed to Abu Yasir during the May 2006 visit
also identified him as a person having "massive weight" and "if
the regime worries about anyone, it is Abu Yasir." Government
Exhibit 1707X at 34 to 36.

Moreover, in the furor over ﬁhe reiease~of Sheikh
Abdel Rahman's first withdrawal from the ceasefire, newspaper
articles marked approved by the defendant to be read tb Sheikh
Rahman contained militant statements by Taha and made clear who
he was. And one article explicitly indicated that he was known
as Abu Yasir. Government Exhibit 2312-45BT, Government
Exhibit 2312—49T, Governmeht Exhibit 2312-45AT. Moreover;_in'
September 2000 defendant saw a news article about a militant
videotape made by Osama bin Laden, Ayman al-Zawahiri and Taha
calling for the release of Sheikh Abdel Rahman. Transéript
8538, Government Exhibit 2656. The article was memorable, and
the defendant acknowledged haviﬁg read the part about Taha.
And the exhibit indicates that it was sent by the defendant to -
Messrs. Sattar and Yousry. Transcript 8538, Government
Exhibit 2656.

While the defendant relies on the fact that she was a
busy lawyer, the references to Téha>were'numerous énough and

significant enough that her testimony that she had not heard of

- Taha until the trial, except for the 1998 article that she

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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forgot, was knowingly false about a material matter and
intended to mislead the jury on a material matter. Similarly,
her testimony that she did not know who Abu Yasir was at the

time of the May 2000 prison visit and that the name had no

‘meaning for her was belied by the substance of the message

attributed to Abu Yasir and by the prior article that had been
translated for her. Hense, there were instances of trial
perjury that justify the imposition of'the‘two—level
enhancement for obstruction of justice under Section 3Cl.1 of
the sentencing guidelines.

The government now seeks a two-level enhancement under
Section 3B1.3 of the guidelines. That enhancement applies "if
the defendant abused a position of public or private trust iﬁ a
manner tﬁaﬁ significantly facilitated the commission or
concealment sf the offense." The government does not rely on
another portion of the enhancement that applies when the
defendant used a special skill. fIttis plain that.the defendant
did abuse a position of both public and,pfivate trust. The,
application notes explain ﬁhat "public or private trust refers
to a position of public or private trust characterized by
professional or managerial discretion, i.e. substantial
discretionary judgment that is ordinarily givsn considerable
deference. Persons holding such positions ordinarily are
subject to significantly less supervision than employees whsse
responsibilities are primarily’nondiscretionary’in nature."

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Access to Sheikh ﬁahman was limited and attorneys were
given access for legal purposes. The defendant swore that she
would abide by the SAMs and not use her access to pass messages
between Sheikh Rahman and the media, but she faiied to keep her
word. The administration of the SAMs depended on trust placed
in attorneys Eo keep their word. The defendant was able to
participate in smuggling messages into and out of the prison
because of the trust placed in her as'the attorney for Sheikh
Rahman. Even after she had violated the SAMs, she was

permitted to visit Sheikh Rahman again because she signed a new

. affirmation. But, again, she did not abide by that

affirmation.

The findings of the Court made at the original
sentencing continue to be true and support the enhancement. As
the Court explained, among other things, "Msi Stewart abused

her position as a lawyer to gain access to Sheikh Omar Abdel

- Rahman while he was in prison and used that access to smuggle

messages to and from Sheikh Abdel Rahman while he was in prison
and to make potential and lethal public statements on his
behalf in violation of the SAMs." Sentencing transcript at
118.

The defendant argues that the Court should not apply

~the enhancement because it was not raised at the initial

sentencing, and that that is now the law of the case and, in

any event, it does not affect the sentencing guideline range.

- SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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It is true that the government did not ask in its initial
sentencing submission for this enhancement, and the government
does not contend otherwise. It is also true that while the

government spoke about the issue of abuse of trust at

sentencing, that was not a request for a new enhancement. And

the Courf would only have considered e request for such an
enhancement with sufficient notice to the defendant and an
epportUnity to respond. |

However, it ie plain that the Court of Appeals
directed the Court to consider this enhancement and that the
government now seeks it. It is also clear that the spirit of
the mandate requires de novo resentencing, and specifically a
consideration of this enhancement. See United States v. Rigas,
583 F.3d 108, 119, (2d Cir. 2009). It is also true, as noted
above, that the enhancement does affect the offense level
calculation, even if it does not affect the ultimate sentencing
guideline sentencing range, which is capped at 360 months.

Finally, ﬁhe defendant argues that the enhancement
should not be applied because she did net engage in her conduct

for personal gain. However, the enhancement contains no

requirement of personal gain, and for the reasons explained

above, the defendant meets the criteria for this enhancement.
Therefore, the Court will add a two-level enhancement under
Section 3B1.3.

That brings me to the calculation of the guideline

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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sentencing range.  Two additional levels are added for the
enhancement for abuse of a position of trust under
Section 3B1.3, and two additional levels are added for the
obstruction enhancement under Section 3C1.i. These four levels
are added to both Group 1 and Group 2. Therefore, the adjusted
offense level for Group 1 is 36 and‘the adjusted offense level
for Group 2 is 44. Under Section 3D1.4, one additional level
is added to the group with the highest offense level, which is
Group 2. Therefore, the total offense level ié 45,‘the
criminal histofy category is VI, as a result of the terrorism
enhancément; The guideline sentencing range remains 360
months, because thaf is the statutory maximum when the
statupory maximums for each of the counts of conviction are
added together and if the seﬁtences on all of the counts were
to be served consecutively. See section 5G1.1A.

As directed by the Court of Appeals, the Court will
begin with a guideline range that is enhanced by the terrorism
enhancement. The Court notes that without the terrorism
enhancement, the offense level would be 32, because Group 2
would have an offense 1e§el of 28. And with the two
enhancements for obstruction and abuse of trust, the offense
level would be 32. Group 1 would drop out of the calculation
because it is more than nine levels less serious than Groﬁp 2.
See section 3D1.4. The criminal history category would be I,
therefore, without the terrorism enhancement. And without any

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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downward variance, the guideline sentencing range weuld be 121
to 151 months. |

As the Court indicated, the Court will begin with the
guideline sentencing range of 360 menths, which is the
senteneing range enhanced by the terrorism enhancement. The
calculation of the guideline sentencing range is, of course,
oniy the first step in the sentencing process. "The guidelines
provide the starting point and the initial benchmark for
sentencing, and district courts must remain cognizant of them
throughout the'sentencing process. It is now, howevef,
emphatically clear that the guidelines are guidelines; thae is,
they are fruly advisory. A district court may not presume that
a guidelines senteﬁce is reasonable. It must instead conduct

its own independent review of the sentencing factors aided by

the arguments>of the prosecution and the defense." United

States v. Cavera, 550 F.3d 180, 189 (2d Cir. 2008) (en banc)
(internal quotation marks and citetions omitted) . CongreSs has
set forth the sentencing factors in 18, U.S.C.,

Section 3553 (a). Congress has required that "The Court shall
impose a sentence that is sufficient but no greater thanﬁ

necessary to comply with the purposes set forth in paragraph

two." Paragraph two provides these factors: "A, to reflect

the seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for the law

and to provide just punishment for the offense; B, to afford

adequate deterrence to criminal conduct; C, to protect the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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public from further crimes of the defendaﬁt; and D, to provide
the defendant with needed educational or vocational training,
medical care or other correctional treatﬁent in the most
effective manner."

Put another way, CongreSs has mandated that a
sentencing court must impbse a sentencé that is sufficient but
no greater than necessary to comply with the purposes of
Section 3553 (a) (2). This section recognizes the importance of
a defendant's liberty because it is a violation of the statute

to impose a sentence that is greater than necessary to comply

'with the purposes of Section 3553(a) (2). It also recognizes

the importance of public safety by requiring that the séntence
be sufficient to accomplish the purposes of punishment,
deterrence and protection of the public.

For present purposes Congress has also required that

the Court consider, one, the nature and circumstances of the

'offense; two, the kihds of sentences available; three, the

sentencing guidelines and the pertinent policy statements of
the sentencing commission; and four, the need to avoid
unwarranted sentencing disparities among defendants with
similar records who have been found guilty of similar conduct.
The Court, after considering these factors, initially
determined that a sentence of 28 months satisfied these
statutory criteria. Before turning to these factors again, it
is useful to place the positions of the parties at the prior
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sentencing and the parties' current positions in perspective.

At the prior sentencing the government took the
position that the guideline sentence of 360 months -- that is,
30 years -- was the appropriate sentence. This was and is the
Statutory maximum for all of the-counts of conviction with the
sentences on each of the counts added together and served
consecutively. That sentence was, the Court thought then and
continues to think,‘unreasonable. It gave no credit whatsoever
to the personal history and characteristics of the defendant,
including her age, health and prior service to the community,
as well as certain other unusual characteristics of this case.

In any event, the government, to its great credit, no‘
longer takes that position. In view of mitigating factors in
this case, the government now states that a sentence of between
15 ana 30 years' imprisonment would satisfy the statutory
criteria for a reasonable sentence.

It is, however, useful to reflect for a moment on that

position. The Court's obligation is to impose a sentence that

is sufficient but no greater than necessary to satisfy the
statutory criteria in Section 3553(a) (2). The Court must
follow the law. If it imposed a sentence that was greater than
necessary to satisfy the statutory criteria, it would be,
plainly, not following the law.' The government now submits
that a sentence of 15 years would be a reasonable sentence and
satisfy the statutory criteria. Put another way, the
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government concedes that a sentence of half the guideline
sentencing range would be sufficient in this case; That
suggests that a sentence of 30 years would surely be greater
than necessary to satisfy the statutory ériteria and be in
violation of the law. |

The Court has an obligation in every case to assure
that the sentence is no greater than necessary to satisfy the
statutory criteria in Section 3553 (a) (2). >T§ the‘exﬁent the
sentence is greater than necessary, it not only unnecessarily
deprives the defendant of liberty, but it is in violation of
law. BRut as I said} the government's-recommendation, Which
includes a sentence of 15 years, half its original
recommendation at the first sentence, is taken with great
seriousness, and the fact that the government includes that
recommendation is to the government's great credit.

The defendant, on the other hand, took the positionAat
the initial sentencing that any sentence of imprisonment would
be too much. Indeed, at sentencing defense counsel took the
position that given the defendant's health situation, any
sentence of imprisonment "likely will be a death sentence
because of the failure to give her the proper treatment."
Sentehcing transcript 88.

The Court Qas plainly concerned and continues to be
concerned about the effect of any sentence of imprisonment on
the défendant's health. The defendant had been diagnosed with -

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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breast cancer‘after the trial and waé treated for that ho?rible
and unpredictable disease in the ?eriod after the trial and
before the séentencing, and had a statistically increased chance
of a recurrence of the disease. The defendant had other
medical conditions, and the Court believed then, aé it does
now, that‘the defendént was ih poor health.

Moreovér,,the Court'had reviewed more than 400 letters
by a wide cross-section of people that‘were submitted in favor
of the defendant; letters from family, former clients, lawyers
and other members of the community, all of which urged
mitigation, and many of which urged that no imprisonment at ali
be imposed.

It is very difficult to summarize such a record.  The
Court read all of the letters. The letters were aipOWerful
testament to the defendant's previous contributions to the
community. The Court considered the nature ahd circumstances
of the offense and the necessafy factors under Section
3553 (a) (2) and determined that a sentence of imprisonment was
required but that a very subsﬁanﬁial'deviation from the
guideline range wés appropriate.i The Court did not view the
sentence of imprisonment of 28 months for a recent breast

cancer survivor in poor health, particularly in view of the

"defendant's entire history, to be a trivial sentence.

The defendant now urges that nothing has changed and

that the Court should simply reimpose the original sentence for

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
| 18
19

20

21

22

23

24

25

61

O7festes -

all of the reasons that the Court originally gave. The
defendant now says that the Court's original sentence was a
fair and reasonable sentence and that the Court should simply

reimpose it. This is a change from the deféndant's original

position of no imprisonment at all, and it is understandably

influenced by the defendant's experience of imprisonment.
In any event, it is plain that the original sentence

cannot simply be reimposed. First, the comments that the

defendant made immediately after the sentence indicated that

the defendant did indeed view the sentence as a trivial
sentence. These comments are noted in the Court of Appeals
opinion and produced againAby the government in connection with
the present sentence. The defendant characterizes the comments
as, "intemperate at best," and suggests that they are taken out
of context. Defendant's reply memo at 25. The Court has
listened to the entire video oﬁ the comments, and they reflect

the defendant's comments about the sentence. A trivial

. sentence would not be sufficient to reflect the seriousness of

the offense, promote respect for the law aﬁd provide just
punishment for the offense as requiréd by law.

Similarly; after the sentence and statement submitted
by the'government, the defendant has said that she made a
considered deciéion based on»thé needs of her client and would
dd it again. The defendant has also said that she would like
to think she would not do anything differently. These

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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statements indicate a lack of remorse for conduct thatbwas both
illegal and potentially lethal. These statements indicate that
the original sentence was not sufficient to accomplish the
purposes of Section 3553(a)(2), including to reflect the
seriousnéss of the offense and to provide adequate deterrence.

The defendant has suggested that it would be a

violation of her First Amendment rights to consider her

statements to the press. The argument has no merit. The
defendant has every right to make any statements she wishes,
and the Court granted the defendant's request to travel and
speak while awaiting the outcome of her appeal.

At the same‘time, the Court can take into account, for
purposes of sentencing, the’truth of the defendant's comments
about the sentence and the degree of her remorse in the way
that courts allow defendants to speak aﬁ sentencing and
consider those statements. See United States v. Kane, 452 F.3d
140, 142 to 43, (2d Cir. 2006). Court can consider the
defendant's writings, to the extent relevant, at sentencing;
United States v. Martinucci, 561 F.3d, 533, 535, (2d Cir. 2009)
(per curiam) .

Moreover, the Court must resentence the defendant in
accordance with.the Court of Appeals decision. That decision
requires the Court, among other things,'to sentence the
defendant in light of the perjury enhanéemént, the abuse of a
position of trust and the terrorism enhancement.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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That brings the Court to}the‘application of the
Section 3553 (a) factors in this case. |
The Court begins with the guideline sentencing range
in this case, which is the statutory maximum of 360 months.

The guideline sentencing range is driven by the terrorism

‘enhancement which the Court has applied. As the Court has

explained above, the Court appreciates the seriousness of the

-defendant's conduct that triggers the terrorism enhancement.

The Court also appfeciates the,seriousness of the offenses for
which the defendant has been convicted. As thé Court explained
at the prior sentence, "There is an irreducible core of
extraordinarily severe criminal conduct. Ms. Stewart abused
her position as a lawyer to gain access to Sheikh Omar Abdel
Rahman while he was in'prison and used that access to smuggle
messages to and from Sheikh Abdel Rahman while he was in prison
and to make potentially lethal public statements on his behalf
in violation of the SAMs. She lied to the government when she
made her affirmation under the SAMs to get access to Sheikh
Rahman while in prison, and after béing warned of the possible
consequences of her actions, she made another false affirmation
to‘gain access yet again, and she violated the affirmation yet
again. She understood the potential seriousness of her conduct
at the time and acknowlédged that she waé putting her whole
career at risk." Sentencing transcript at 118.

4i indicated earlier that I would not summarize all of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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the evidence. It is summarized in the opinion of the Court of
Appeals and this Court's‘prior opinion denying the motion for a
judgment of acquittal. As the Court has explained, the
terrorism énhancement was warranted, as were the enhancements
for obstruction and abuse of trust.

All of this evidence goes to explain the feasons for a
substantial sentence to be sufficient to comply with thé.first
three factors of Section 3553(a)(2). There are two mitigating
factors that shoﬁld be considered in connection with the
terrorism enhancement itself.

First, the criminal history category VI overstates the
defendant's criminal history. The criminal history category is
designed to reflect the serious in the of the defendant's past
criminal conduct and the likelihood the defendant wiil commit
further crimes. See Section 4Al.3. The Court of Appeals has
recognized that category VI for the terrorism enhancement ié
rational "because even terrorists with no prior criminal
behavior are unique among criminals in the likelihood of
recidivism, the difficulty of rehabilitation and the need for
incapacitation." United States v. Méskini, 319 F.3d 88, 92,
(2d Cir. 2003). At the same time, the Court added "a jﬁdge
determining that the terrorism enhancement overrepresents the
seriousness of the defendant's past conduct or the likelihood
that the defendant will commit other crimes always has the
discretion under Section 4Al1.3 to depart dowﬁward in

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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sentencing."

In this case, unlike in Meskini, the defendant hés no
prior criminal history. Moreover, the defendant is unlikely to
resume the activities that produced the current convicﬁion
after she is released from imprisonment. This is not the case
of a member of a terrorist organization who would return to the
group when released from prison or would find some other means
to support sﬁch aﬁ organization when provided the opportunity‘
to do so. The defendant was involved in each of the crimes of
conviction through a profoundly wrongful effort to use her

status as a lawyer for Sheikh Omar Abdel Rahman to further his

cause. The defendant has now been disbarred and will no longer

‘have access to Sheikh Rahman.

As the defense points out, the crimes of conviction
occurred more thaﬁ nine years ago. And there is absolutely no
evidenceithat the defendant has done anything further in those
nine years that could bé considered furthering terrorism.

The government argues that the defendaﬁt dées not have
to Ee a lawyer to engage in fraud against the government.
However, there is no basis in the record to conclude that the
defendant would have any realistic opportuniﬁy to defraud tﬁe
govérnment, and the government does not suggesf how the
defendant would be in such a positioﬁ to defraud the
government. ‘Plainly, the government will not pléce any trust
in Ms. Steﬁart; and she can never use her bosition as a lawyer

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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to exploit any access to Sheikh Abdel Raﬁman; Theréfore, some
mitigation of the criminal history category is Warranted.’

In this connection, it should be noted that the. Court
of Appeals affirmed some mitigation in the crimiﬂal history
category produced by the terrorism enhancement in the case of
codefendaht Sattar. See Stewart, 590 F.3d at i44. There is. no
reasonable basis to find that Ms. Stewart is a gréater threat
ofvrecidivism than Mr. Sattar or that she warrants a greater
eriminal history than Mr. Sattar. Indeed, given Mr. Sattaf's‘
far greater crime and far more extensive involvement with the
members of.the Islamic Group, Ms. Stewart should be afforded
considerably greater mitigation of the criminal history
category torreflect'her lower risk of recidivism.

In the prior sentencing the Couft also noted that some

mitigation was warranted because of the lack of evidence of

‘harm to a victim. The Court is well aware that harm to a

victim is not required for the terrorism enhancement to apply,
and indeed, as the govérnment points out, it is important for
thé governﬁent to prevent terrorist acts before they occur.
And the fact that the acts are prevented does not lessen the
gravity of the contemplated harm. Indeed, in some cases it ié
perfectly apparent tﬁat the intended harm is horrific and |
warrants the severest punishment, even if the hafm‘is
prevented. See, for example, United States v. Abu Ali,

528 F.3d 210 (4th Cir. 2008), cdnspiracy to bomb American
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military bases and assassinate the president of the United
States.

In this case she jury found that there was a
conspiracy to kill that existed, and the evidence was that Atia
would have committed a fatal act, if not thwarted. Moreover,
Ms. Stewart participated in providing Sheikh Rahman as a
coconspirator to the conspiracy to kill. She facilitated
smuggling out of prison Sheikh-Rahman's support for Taha, and
she provided the public dissemination of withdrawai from the
ceasefire.

The Court in no sense minimizés the gravity of these
acts. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, the terrorism
enhancement covers a wide variety of culpable conduct; And
this Court relied in part on the absence of specific harm as a
factor to be noted in determining Sattar's sentence with which
the Court of Appeals did not find fault. See Stewart, 590 F.3d
at 143 to 44.

The Court also takes seriously the instruction from

the Court of Appeals that "a district court should be cautious

in determining the significance of the fact that no harm may

have occurred where a defendant intended such harm." Id. at

- 140, note 43. Accordingly, the Court does not attach much

weight to this mitigating factor, and it does not cancel the
terrorism enhancement.
There are additional mitigating factors which the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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Court congiders to warrant a substantialvdownward variance from
the guidéline sentencing range. Firét; the defendant is now 70
years of age. Increasing age decreases the likelihood of
recidiyism. Indeed,_in Cavera the defendant was described as

70 years old in the opinion of a district court and the Court

- of Appeals. The Court of Appeals noted "in view of Cavera's

advanced age, the district court chose to reduce the sentence
it would otherwise have imposed on its perception that Cavera
was less likely than the average offender to{reoffend."
Cavera, 550 F.3d at 197. The Court of Appeals deferréd to that
determination by the district court. So, too, here, a lower
sentence than one which would otherwise be called er'is
warranted by the defendant's age, which reduces the likelihood
of recidivisml

Second, the defendant has significant health problemé
which are detailed in the medical reports and which:the Court
will not detail here. The defendant is a breast cancer
survivor‘with a statistically significant chance of recurrence.
She underwent surgery and radiation therapy and continues to

take medication to prevent recurrence. She suffers other

significant medical conditions which are in the record; and

\

indeed, the defendant would have had additional surgery, had
she not been incarcerated.
The defendant's medical conditions can be tfeated in

prison and, indeed, the defense has Supported the quality of
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the medical care that the defendant has received at the MCC and
the outpatient care that she has received from other

institutions under the supervision of the medical staff at the

. MCC. Nevertheless, those medical conditions will make

imprisonment more difficult for the defendant than the average
prisoner and are entitled to some weight in assessiné the
personal characteristics of the defendant under Section 3553 (a)
and the severity of the sentence necessary for punishment uﬁder
Section.3553(a)(2)(A) and deterrence under Section
3553 (a) (2) (B) .

Third, the Court turns to the defendant's personal
history, a‘plainly relevant consideration under Section
3553 (a), which directs the'Court to consider the "history and
characteristics of the defendant." The defendant was a teacher
in inner city public schools.before becoming a lawyer. For
over 30 years she practiced law concentrating on criminal law.
In the dourse of that practice, while she became well known and
celebrated as a lawyer, she did not ﬁse the practice of law to
earn.persdnal wealth. As the Court explained at the initial
sentencing, she represented thé poor, the disadvantaged and the
unpopular, often as a court-appointed lawyer.

This was‘an extraordinary record that was reflected in

the fact that defense counsel submitted over 400 letters in

support of the defendant, many of which‘repeatedly stressed

these themes. Defense counsel represented that they could have

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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submitted over 800 letters to the same effect. This volume of
support has been unprecedented, at least for this Court, and
has been a testament to the defendant's work. 1In connectioﬁ
with the resentencing( the defendant has submitted more than 70
letters, although these letters cannot be read in isolation
from all of the original letters.

There are several specific aspects of this record that
beaf highlighting. By ﬁroviding representation to those who
ﬁeed representation, the defendant has provided a public
service. Our system of jﬁstice depends on lawyers who will
represent those who cannot afford representation, and our

system depends on lawyers who are prepared to represent

unpopular clients. One of the tragedies of this case is that

the defendant was appointed by the Court to represent Sheikh
Omar Abdel Rahman, a deeply unpopular client, and she did so
through appeal. There has been no contention that she violated
the law throughout that representation through appeal, but as a
result of that representétion, she subsequently became involved
in the offenses of conviction.

It is significant that the defendant built her career
over three decades without a view toward pérsonal profit and
certainly without a view to establishing mitigating factors'for
the purpose of sentencing. This is not a case where a
defendant has turned to charity in response fo an indictment.
Under the policyvstatements in the 2002 guidelines, which are
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only advisory, civic charitablevpublic service, employment
related contributions and similar prior good works are not
ordinarily relevant in determining whether a sentence should be
outside the guideline range, but the policy statements indicate
that they may be considered in exceptional cases. See‘
Introductory Commentary and Section S5H1.11.

This is an exceptional case. The length, quantity and
quality of the defendant's service‘is'exceptional, as reflected
in the lettef.submitted to the Coﬁrt. The government; to its
credit, recognizes that the mitigating factors in this case may
warrant a downward variance of 50 peréeﬁt from the guideline
sentencing range. And the Court of Appeals noted in reviewing
the sentence "like thé district courﬁ, we are impressed by the
factors that figured in Stewart's modest sentence, particﬁlarly
her admirable history of ‘providing at no little cost tb herself
proficient legal services in difficult cases to those who could
not afford them." Stewart, 590 F.3d at 93.

There is an additional aspect of this personal history
that was touched on above but bears directiy on the
Section 3553 (a) two factors. The defendant has been disbarred
and will plainly have no opportunity‘to interact with Sheikh
Abdel Rahman again, nor will she be able to use her license to
practice law to commit the offénses of conviction. Each of the
offenses of conviction depended on her role as a lawyer for
Sheikh Abdel Rahman.: Because the defendant will not have the
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same opportunity to commit the offenses, the need for a longer
term of imprisonment is less necessary for purposes of
deterrence. Indeed, the Court of Appeals affirmed the
consideration'of a similar factor for defendant Yousry. "The
Court found that Yousry will not be in a position to‘commit the
offenses of conviction again because it is unlikely he will
ever be able to serve as an interpreter in an official
capacity. We defer to:this.finoing, too. It is not error for
a district court to evaluate, based on the defendant's
individual circumstances, the extent of punishment necessary to
deter him from engaging in future criminal conduct or to
protect the public from his future criminal acts." Stewart,
590 F.3d at 141. |

The government argues, as indicated above, that the
defendant does not have to be a lawyer to defraud the
government. But while that is true, there is nothing in the
record to indicate that the government could reasonably be

deceived by the defendant in the future, and there is nothing

in the record that the government has pointed to to indicate

what the occasions might be forythe recurrence of the crimes of
conviction. And.the defendant has pointed to the fact that the
offenses of conviction occurred more than nine years ago and
there is no evidence of any recurrence.

The Court has carefully considered the guideline
sentencing range of 360 months, which is the maximum sentence

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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~ that can be imposed on the defendant and is obtained only by

\

adding the maximum sentence on each of the counts and making
them run consecutively.

The Court must consider all of thé relevant

_Section 3553 (a) factors and impose a sentence that is

sufficieﬁt but no greater than necessary to éomply with the
purposes of Section 3553(a)(2)._ The Court has carefully
cbnsidered’the guideline sentencing iange and the specific
enﬂancements directed by the Court of Appeals. The Court is
aware of the severity of the offenses and the impértance of
including the terrofism énhancement in the sentence. The Court
believesAthat a substantial downward variance is warranted for
the reasbns.éxplained above, but the mitigating factors do not
cancel out the severity of the'offense.

On balance, the Court concludes that a sentence of 120

" months' imprisonment is sufficient but no greater than

necessary to comply with the purposes of Section 3553 (a) (2).

The‘sentence also does not result‘in unwarranted
senténcing disparities. ThekCourt has carefully considered
under Section 3553 (a) (2) the need to avoid uﬁwarranted
sentencing disparities ambng deféndahts with similar records
who have been found guilty of similar conduct. The Court,
consistent with the concerns of the Court of Appeals, has
compéred the proposed sentence to that of the other aefendants
in this case. The sentence does not resﬁlt in unwarranted
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sentencing disparities. The sentence is subétantialiy longer>
thah;that fér defendant Yousry —~'1oo months longer than the
20-month sentence for Yousry -- but the guideline sentencing
range for Mr. Yousry was much lower because it did not include
the terrorism enhancement and did not include the enhancement
for obstruction of justice. Defendant Yousry's guideline
sentencing range was 78 to 97 months, substantially lower than
the 360-month guideline sentencing range for defendant Stewart.

Defendant Stewart actually argues. now that Mr. Yousry
was vefy knowledgable about what was really going on because of
his knowledge of Arabic and his study of the Islamic Group'and
Sheikh Abdel Rahman. ‘However, Mr. Yousry remained in a
subservient position to the lawyers,‘and his sentence was, in
fact, reasonable, given the nature of his participation in the

crimes and the applicable guideline range that applied to

Mr. Yousry. Defendant Stewart's substantially longer sentence

than that of Mr. Yousry is reasonable, given all of the
enhancements- that apply in her case.

The sentence‘is also reésonable éompared to defendant
Sattar’'s. Mr. Sattar was sentenced to 288 months'
imprisonment, and his guideline sentencing range was life
imprisonment. Mr;~Sattar was plainly the most knowledgable and
most culpable of all of the defendants. He was the only
defendant charged and convicted of the offense of conspiracy to
murder for which the potential penalty was life imprisonment.
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Therefore, a substantially lower sentence for defendant Stewart
than that for defendant Sattar is warranted. |

Finally, the variance from the guideline range is

based on a consideration Qf the particular factors in
Ms. Stewart's case, as discuséed above, énd does not result in
unwarfanted sentencing disparities. The government has
cataloged a widé variety of cases dealing with material support
foi terrorist acfs or organizations. See government August 25,
2006, sentencing memo at 64 to 82. Many of these cases
resulteaiin.substantial sentences, but many resulted in
sentencing of ten years or less.

. The defendant also points to seven specific cases

‘where defendants were accused of violating 18, U.S.C.,

Section 2339B, which prohibits material assistance to a
designated foreign terrorist organization, and where the
defendants received sentences of less than eight years'
impfisonment; See defendant's sentencing memo of June.ll,
2010, at 19 to 20.  Most of these cases were decided after
Booker was decided, when the guidelines were no longer
mandatory. However, comparison to individual cases is
difficult. Many of the cases citéd by the government were
decided before the Supreme Court's decision in Booker, when the
sentehcing guidelines were mandatory. Many of the cases that
involved lower seﬁtences were decided after guilty pleas or

involved cooperation with the government.
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Comparisons of other cases to this case are élso
difficult because some of the cases that included higher
sentences involved crimes that carried far-more serious
penalties than the crimes with which defendant‘Stéwart was
charged; The most serious crime with which Ms. Stewart was
charged was a violation of 18, U.S.C., Section 2339A, providing

material support to terrorist activity. That offense carried a

maximum penalty of ten years' imprisonment and no mandatory

minimum at the time that the offense was committed.

| After the events of Séptember 11, 2001, the penalty'
for a violation of)iS,‘U.S.C., Section 2339A and for a
violation of 18, U.S.C.; Section 2339B were increased by
SO percent, from 10 years to 15 years. But the parties agree
that the maximum penalty for the violation of 18, U.S.C.,
Section 2339A that applies to the offense when Ms. Stewart
violated the statute is ten years. Put another way, at the
time the'offense was committed, Congress determined that the

maximum penalty could be ten years for that offense. All of

‘the other counts of conviction for Ms. Stewart carried

sentences of fivg years with no mandatory minimum. As
indicated above; the only way that the guideliné range could be
achieved in this case is by sentencing the defendant to the
maximum tetm on each of thé counts and then running them all
consecutively.

-Therefore, some of the other cases listed by the
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government as allegedly comparable are plainly not>comparable.
Forvexample, in United States v. Abu Ali, 529 F.3d 210, (4th
Cir. 2008), cited by the government as oneJof the most
comparéble cases, ﬁhe defendant was convicted of nine separate
couﬁts arising from his affiliation with an Al-Qaeda terrorist =
cell in Saudi Arabia and its plans to carry out terrorist acts
in the United States, including a plot to assassinate the
president. The conviction involved a mandatory minimum term of
20 years'ximprisonment and a maximum term of life imprisonment.
The nature ofuthe acts, the»mandatory.minimum, the greater
number of the counts of conviction and the maximum sentence
distinguished that case from Ms. Stewart's.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals in that case reversed the
district court sentence of 360 months as insﬁfficient,
primarily because the district court made an incorrect
comparison of the‘acts of the defendant‘in that case to the
crimes of John Walker Lindh, Timothy McVeighkaﬁd Terry Nichols.
See Abu Ali, 528 F.3d at 262 to 64. That case illustrates the
danger of attempting te determine a sentence.besed on the
comparison to other specific cases when sentencing must be
based on a careful analysis of all of the Section 3553 (a)
factors as applied to the facts of the case at issue.

The government also compares this case to United
States v. Khan, 309 F.Supp. 2d 789 (E.D.Va. 2004), but in that
case two defendants received mandatory minimum sentences on

SOUTHERN DISTRfCT REPORTERS, P.C.
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weapons offenses of life and 55 years, and therefore the

severity of the sentence was required, in any event, and the

third defendant was sentenced to 52 months on the material

.~ support conviction concurrent with terms of 52 months on other

counts. See government reply memorandum June 25, 2010 at 35.

Moreover, a comparison to the sentences in other cases
involving recent violations of 18, U.S.C., Section 2339A of
Section 2339B may be misleading because the sentences may well
have been affected by the 50 percent incréase in the penalty
for those statutes which occurrea after the events df
September 2001 and which does not apply to the conduct in
Ms. Stewart's case which occurrea before the penalty was
increased.

In this case the Court has considered the range of
cases provided by the parties. 'Theré.is‘nothing about those
cases that indicates that the proposed sentence in this case
wéuld result‘in unwarranted sentencing disparities. It is
reasonable compared to the sentences for the codefendants in
this case, and the variance from the guideline senﬁencing range
is based on a consideration of all the relevant Section 3553(a)
factors. The sentence is sufficient but no greater than
necessary to comply with the purposes of Section 3553 (a) (2).

It carefully takes into account the éctual offenses of which
the defendant was convicted and the sentences that Congress
ﬁrovided'at the time thoée offenses were coﬁmitted.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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The Court began with the guideline sentencing range
which was enhanced with the terrorism enhancement. The Court
then determined that a downward variance was justified to
arrive at the sentence that the Court determined was sufficient

but no greater than necessary to comply with the purposes of

" Section 3553 (a) (2). The Court notes that the sentence is

substantially higher than it would have been without the

terrorism enhancement because the Court would have applied the
considerations discussed above to vary.downwardly from the
sentencing range that was otherwise provided by the guidelines
without the terrorism enhancement. The sentence has also been
enhanced by the.two specific féctors noted~by the Court of
Appeals, namely obsﬁruction and abuse of trust. The Court has
considered all of the arguments of the parties and the
extensive submissions to the Court. . To the extent not
specifically addressed, they do not change the Court's decision
with respect to sentencing.

Therefore, the Court intends to impose a sentence .of
120 months' imprisonment to be imposea as follows: 120 months
on Count Five and 60 months on Counté One, Four, Six and Seven,
all to run concﬁrrently. The Court intends to impose
supervised release of two years to follow an imprisonment on
Counts One, Four, Five, Six and Seven, to run concurrently with
the standard conditions of supervised release in this district
and those recommended by the probation department. I will not

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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impose drug teéting because the défendant is a low fisk of
éubstance abuse.

I will ﬁot impose a fine because the defendant lacks
the ability to pay a fine. I will ndt impose an order‘of
restitution because theré_are no victims under 18, U.S.C.,
Section 3663. I will impose a $500 special assessment.

I will fecommend that the defendant be incarcerated at
FCI Danbury so that she can be close to her family. I will
recommend, in accordance with the defendant's request, that she
be designated care level two by the Bureau of Prisoné and, to
the extént possible, that her care continue to be monitored by
Dr. Glover. |

I will recommend to the Bureau of Prisons that the
defendant continue to be held at MCC‘for 60 days to allow her
to participaté‘in the pfepération of any appeals, and that she
continue to be held there during the briefing of any éppeal, if
any appeal is taken.

Befote I actually impose the sentence, I'll recognize
each of the lawyers and the defendant for anything that they
wish‘to tell me in connection with the sentence.

Ms. Shellow?

MS. SHELLOW: Your,Honof, Ms. Stewart has asked for a
moment for a persohal break. If we could fake it now. I know
that it's an awkward time to do it. |

THE COURT: Oh, no, absolutely. Of course.‘ of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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course. Can the marshals_accommodate ﬁhis?

We'll take ten minutes.

(Recess)

THE COURT: Ms. Shellow.

MS. SHELLOW: Your Honor, I have two points I'd like
to make. One, I'd like the Court to recongider or to clarify
that what it is doing is it is imposing the statutory maximum
of 2339A, essentially treating everything else as a lesser
included in a statute where there's no mandatorylminimum with a

defendant who presents the personal history and characteristics

and the balance of the record that the Court reviewed?

THE COURT: No. That is not a fair way of describing
what I've said.
The defendant was convicted of five separate crimes.

The defendant's sentence reflects the fact that the defendant

‘was convicted of five separate crimes, each of which is

serious. - You have to understand the difference between the
sentences of -- the offenses for which the defendant was
convicted and»the maximum sentences on those counts and the
calculation of the guideline éeﬁtencing range, which I've gone
thrbugh,.and the individual calculations within the guideline
sentencing range. |

I stressed that the maximum sentence that the
defendant was liable to was 360 months. And I did that several
times in order to understand the guideline calculation -- so

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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that people would understand the guideline caléulations and why
the guideline calculations WOuld arrive at a sentence that was
unreasonable in this case. I described at some length the fact
that the maximum sentence on the 2339A count was .10 years so
that people would underétand that some of the comparisons to
some of the other cases used, for example, by the government,

were not quite accurate because the maximum sentence on 2339A

"has been increased after the offense of conviction from 10

years to 15 years.

It would be wrong to think of the sentence as saying,
okay, I'll sentence the defendant to the maximum on 2339A as
though iﬁ were a mandatory minimum. It is not. I fully
understand, it's notla mandatory minimum. No guestion. When a
sentence is imposed, the Court determines what is the sentence
that the Court determines is the reasonable sentence in this
case. The Court then, in terms of describing how that senﬁence
is to be imposed under the guidelines, takeé\the sentence and

loocks at the counts of conviction. To the extent that there is

a count that will include the total sentence, as there is in

this case, it imposes that sentence on that count and any other .

counts that include that sentence and then takes the other
counts and makes them concurrent. That's why the sentence that
is imposed uses -- I’arrive at the sentence of what is the
apprdpriate and‘reasbnable sentence in this case, and’then I
look'at the counts of conviction and direct how that sentence

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.-
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will be included in the judgment of conviction.

Because the sentence is 120 months and there is a
count for 120 months, I describe it then as imposed on that
count and the other counts all fun -- which maximum of 60
months, all run concurrently. So the toﬁal sentence is 120
months. 1I've tried to go through in detail both my analysis of
the guideline sentencing range, héw I've arrived at the
sentence and also tried to point out how some other cases are
not fairly comparable tQ this case.

Have I answered your question?

MS. SHELLOW: Yes. Thank you. The second point,
and -- unrelated --

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. SHELLOW: -- to the first point.

When you imposed the first sentence, in the
transcript, my recollection is that you acknowledged not as
sentencing enhancements in the guidelines calculation but in
your'overall analysis of the offense conduct'the abuse of her
pésition as a lawyer. And you also, I believe, characterized
her testimony as having made false statements; that is, you
identified it but said that you weren't going to consider it
because at that point you already maxed out the sentencing
guidelines calculation, and the circuit has now directed you to
consider it in that context. |

| But essentially nothing has changed from then until

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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now, save the two statements, the standing on your head and the
I would do it again; that is to say, yoﬁ did take them into
account, would be our position; in arriving at the 28 months.
You didn't do it in the context of the guidelines calculation,
but you did in the context of evaluating the offense conduct.

THE COURT: It would be wrohg to attempt to isolate
individual factors in terms of the ultimate conclusion as to
what the fair and reasonable sentence was. I was directed by
the Court of Appeals to conduct a resentehcing. I was directedq-
to consider in particular certain factors and to conduct a
resentencing. And I have done that, in light of all of the
direction given by the Court of Appeals and all of the
sﬁbmissions by the parties, in light of what was before me
initially and in light of what is before me now. And that's
why I say, it's wrong for whatever purpose to simply single out
an individual factor. i have tried at length to expléin in as
much detail as possible for a reéentencing the factors that go
into the resentencing.

MS. SHELLOW: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Before I actually impose the
sentence, Ms. Stewart, I'll recognize you for anything you wish

to tell me. Anything you'd like to say, anything at all you

>would like to say.

THE DEFENDANT: I'm somewhat stunned, Judge, and I --

at the swift change in my outlook, and I am -- I also -- well,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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we will continue to struggle on. We will, of course, take all
available optidﬁs-to do what we need to do to change this, and
hopefully -- I just feel that I'vevlet an awful lot of my good
péople down, and I'have nothing else to say.

THE COURT: Thank you. Okay.

All right. Mr. Dember?‘

MR. DEMBER: We ha&e nothing further to add, your
Honor.

THE COURT: ‘Okay. Pursuant to the Sentencing Reform
Act of 1984, it is the judgment of this Court that the
defendant, Lynne Stewart, is hereby committed to the custody of

the Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a term of 120

months, to be imposed as follows: 120 months on Count Five and

60 months bn Counts'One, Four, Six and Seven, all to run
concurrently.

I recommend incarceration at FCI Danburyf I recommend
that the defendant be designated care level two and that, to
the extent possible, her care continue to~be supervised by
Dr. Glover. I recommend that the defendant continue to be held
at the MCC for 60 days to allow her to particibate in the
preparation of any appeals, and that she coﬁtin@e to be held
there during the briefing of any appeals, if any appeal-is
taken. |

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be
placed on supervised release for a terﬁ_of two years on Counts

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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One, Fbur,'Fiﬁe, Six and Seven, all to run‘concurrently.
Within 72 hours of release from the custody of the Bureau of
Prisons, the defendant shall report in person to the probation
office in the district to which the defendant is released.

While 6n supervised reléase, the defendant shall
comply with the standard conditions of supervised release in
this district. The defendant shall h@t commit another federal,
state or local crime. The defendant shall nét possess a |
firearm or destructive device, as defined in 18, U.S.C.,
Section 921. The defendént shall refrain from any unlawful use
or pdssession of a controlled substance.' The defendant shall
cooperate in thé colleétion of DNA, as directed by the
probation officer.

It is further orderedlﬁhat the defendant shall pay to
the Unitea States a special assessment of $500, which shall be
due immediately. |

I've already explained the reasons for the sentence.
Does either counsel know of any legal reason why this sentence
sﬁould not be imposed as I'veAso stated. it? |

MR. DEMBER: No, your Honor.

MS. SHELLOW: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. 1I'll order the sentence to be
imposed as I've so stated it.

Ms. Stewart, you have the right to appeal the
sentence. The notice of appeal must be filed within ten days

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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after the entry of the judgment of conviction. The judgmént is
eﬁtered promptly after the Court announces the sentence, so you
should discuss this issue pfomptly with your lawyer. If you
cannot pay Ehe‘cost of appeal, you have the right to apply for
leave to appeal informa pauperis. If you request, the clerk |
will prepare and file a notice of appeal én your behalf
immediately.

I note that the Court of Appeals has indicated that
jurisdiction may be resﬁored to the Court of Appeals by é
letter from any party. Do you understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. |

THE COURT: Yes?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I understand, Judge.

THE COURT: Thank you.

“Finally, I intend to issue an order indicating that no
resentencing of defendants Yousry or Sattar is required, and no
party has requested such resentencing. Therefqre, the original
judgments afe reaffirmed. I'll issue an order to the parties
to just let me know if there's anything further that I shbuld
do in that connection.

All right. 'Anything further?

MS. SHELLOW: Your Honor, I would ask that at the
conclusion of these proceedings, if Ms. Stewart could have a
moment aftef the courtroom is cleared with her famiiy.

THE COURT; Absolutely.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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MS. SHELLOW: Thank you.

THE COURT: Absolutely. Yes. Marshals should allow

' the defendant to have some time with her family. Thank you.

Anything else?

MR. DEMBER: Your Honor, I believe the defendant has a
right to file the notice of appeal in 14 days now, as opposed
to 7, I believe? That's what I'm being advised.

THE COURT: You're probably right.

MR. DEMBER: I think it's 14 actual days, as opposed
to 10 days, excluding the weekends.

THE COURT: = Thank you. Right. Always good to be
safe. The government says it's 14 days to file the notice of .

appeal, which I suspect is right after the time computations

~have changed. But certainly check.

MS. SHELLOW: We will, your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay. Anything else?
MR. DEMBER: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Good-afternoon; all.

(Adjourned)
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